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HISTORY OF SCOTTS BLUFF NATIONAL MONUMENT
Geographical Setting

Scotts Bluff National Momument is located in Secotts Bluff
County, Nebraska about 20 miles east of the Wyoming state line,
in vhat is commonly called the "Panbandle of Nebraska®. The
Honument itself comtains some 3,450 acres of land of which
about 2,200 acres are federally owned. The three nearest towns
are: Gering, 3 miles east of the headquarters area; the city
of Seottsbluff, 5 miles northesst from the Monument; and Mitehell,
Nebraska, some 10 miles to the morthwest. State Highway 86
intersects the Momument and connects with U, 8. 26, 20 miles
to the east; with State Highway 29 in Gering; and sgain at an
intersection some 3 miles north of headquarters.

The North Platte River flows in s southeasterly direction
through western Nebrasska to a2 junction with the South Platte at
Horth Platte, Nebrasks (175 miles east of the Monument). It was
along this famous river route to the western mountains that the
endless caravans of fur trappers, emigrants, and pioneers made
their way west seeking homes and riches. The Monument borders
this river on the south bank and encompasses the famous bluff,
which bears the name of ome of the more unfortunate "mountain
nmen”, Hiram Seott.



Along the scuth bank of the North Flatte River for 100
niles in western Nebrasks, is a long ridge of bluffs gener-
ally called Wildeat Hills, These bluffs, with some lesser hills
to the morth, form the North Platte Valley. Scotts Bluff stands
apart from the Wildeat Hills to form one of the dominant features
of this valley. Soil in the valley is rich and, with the aid
of irrigation from the river, produces excellent erops of corm,
potatoes, beans, sugar bests, and other staples. Where irri-
gation water camnot reach, the raising of cattle and sheep is
important.

The climate of the area is semi-arid, with cold winters,
relatively hot summers, and the windy conditions of the Ureat
Plains.

The geology of the main bluff shows features of both the
Miocene and Oligocene epochs. The upper third of the bluff
consists of a formation of sandstone known as the Arickaree
formation, Concretions located in this softer sandstone have
resisted erosion and have left the bluff standing while the
elements reduced the land sroumd it,

The lower two-thirds of the bluff are of the Uligocene
Epoch., The prineips] formetion in this section is Brule clay.,
This material is very soft and sand-like, submitting repidly
to erosion, ¥hen this clay is unprotected by more durable



formations, ercosion has produced a pattern of irregular gullies
known as "badlands”., Thin layers of veclcanic ash and very
soft sandstone are interspersed within the walls of the bluff,
“Une of the most interesting pbysiographic features of the
Northern Creat Plains is the badland topography so extensively
developed in the Big Badlands of South Dakota and North-
western Nebraska as well as in numerous smaller ereas such es
that developed at the base of Seotts Bluff.” 1/

Paleontology is very rich in Scotts Bluff Hational Monument,
as it is in this general ares of the Great Plains regien.
Fossil remains found in the Brule clay formations are of great
interest. Fur traders and pioneers of over 100 years age
noticed these remains. The first scientific interest was
aroused in 1847 when a fur trader showed the jawbone of 2
Iitanothere to Dr, Hiram Prout of St. Louis. Common fossils
found in the Scotts Bluff area are giant turtles, Opecdonts
(pig-like animals), ancient rhinocercses, saber-toothed
tigers, dogs, deer, camels, and rodents. 2/

Erehistoric ¥an
Little is knoun about the activities of prehistoric men

around Scotts Bluff even though several important sites have
been found. Arehoolozhﬁ have found evidence of primitive
Indian life of the early lithie period of 5,000 years ago.
Several occupation sites have been uncovered st nearby
locations such as Signal Butte, Scotts Bluff Bison Quarry,



Spanish Diggings, ish Hollow Cave, and the Scotts Bluff
Potato Cellaer. 3Signal Butte is, perhaps, the most famous
of these sites being investigated by scientists of the
Smithsonian Institution and the University of Nebrasks.
Three levels of materials were found here revealing early
menkind in vestern Nebraska. The oldest of these dstes
back 5,000 years. The second, or middle, level reveals life
of the Pre~docodland peried, 1,500 years age. The last, or
uppermost, level has produced artifacts of the "Ceramic
Period” of 250 years ago.

The Scotts Bluff Bison Quarry, located near Signal Butte,
has revealed signs of ancient hunters who lived some 10,000
years age. Other caves and excavations nearby have pro-
duced materials of burial sites of early Indian dwellers. 3/

It is not known when the first white men saw western
Hebraska. It is now known that the Spanish explorer, Coromade,
did not pemetrate beyond central Kansas during his explorations
in 1541. S3Such French explorers as Nicoclet and Radison were in
the upper !ississippi region in the mid-seventeenth century.
The first real evidence of white man in western Nebrasks is
:mutmm.mpe:smmmmm
Pedro de Villasur was massacred at the forks of the Platte
River. &/



The Platte River received its name from the French Mallet
brethers who, with six others, crossed Nebrasks from morth to
south in 1739, The word “platte” is a translation from the
Oto, meaning "shallow”, 5/ Other trappers of European ex-
traction undoubtedly wendered through the area during the years
before the United States purchased the Louisiana Territory
from Nepoleonic France in 1803, After this date; imerican ex-
plorers Lewis and Clark, Pike, and cthers traversed the region
to the north and south of Nebrasks and left recorded evidence
of their journeys. Major Stephen H. Long, in 1820, was the
first official Government explorer to use the "Flatte River
Route,” going up the South Platte to the Colorade Fockies. &/

In 1810, John Jacob istor organized the Paeific Fur
Company. In 1811 he sent twe parties tc the Uregon country
to extablish trading posts and claim the area for the United
States. One group went by sea around Cape Horn and established
Astoria, the first American fur trading post on the Pacifie,
The second group, under Wilson Price, went up the Missouri
River and the overland. The following year, seven men, the
Stuart party, carried dispatches overland to Astor. They
traveled up the Spake River, crossed the Continental Divide
near South Pass, and down the Sweetwater. The party lost their
horses to some raiding Indians and were compelled to comtinue
on for 2,000 miles on foot. They trudged down the Horth Platte
River with most of their gear on the back of a poor old horse

AN



obtained from some friendly Snake Indians. These are the first
known white men to see Scotts Bluff. 7/ Ircmically enough,
they passed the famous landmark on Christmas Day, 1812, on the
north bank of the river, subsequently returning to the vieinity
of present Torringtom, Wyoming, to spend the winter., After

delays, hardships, and m—starnﬁm, they reached St. Louis
on April 30, 1813,

Although Stuart and his party discovered an important
river route to the western mountains, the significance of his
findings vere not generally understood at the time. The re-
discovery of this corridor was left to a group of Genmeral
Ashley's fur traders who passed by the bluff in 1824, During
the decade following Stuart's eastward journey, most of the
fur trading sctivity was focused on the upper Missouri. Indian
troubles on the upper Missouri, especially with the Ree, Black-
foot, end Gros Ventre, caused ishley's fur company to turn its
attention to the Rocky Mountain region south of the hostile
Indian settlements. Among the employees of Ashley at this
time were such famous men as Jim Bridger, Jedediah Smith,
William Sublette, Thomas Fitzpatrick, and Hiram Scott.

It was at this time thst the annusl rendesvous system
was initiated, In the summer of 1825, rather than bulld ex~-
‘penaiv- forts to protect his interests, iAshley had his men
meet a caravan from the east to transport the year's take
of pelts to market. These meetings, which continued umtil 1840,



were responsible for the opening of the Platte River route, being
used by the caravans of supplies on thelr way to the designated
rendezvous spot and return with the beaver pelts.

It was during this pericd that Scotts Bluff received its
name, OUne of the mountain men, Hiram Seott, returning to S5t.
Louis in the fall of 1828, somehow became stranded among the
bluffs on the scuth bank of the Horth Platte River in western
Hebraska. Circumstances of his death are not known and many
legends and traditional accounts of it have clouded the facts
even more. It is thought that he was abandoned to his fate by
his companions and left to die somevhere in the general viecinity
of these bluffs., Washington Irving's account of the imeident,
a8 related in his stories of Captain Bonneville's adventures
in the west, is probably the most famcus and often quoted
version:

¥esssconcamped amid high and beetling cliffs of in-
durated clay and sandstone, bearing the semblence of
towers, castles, churches and fortified cities. it

& distance it was scareely possible to persuade one's
self that the works of art were not mingled with
these fantastie freaks of nature. They have received
the name of Scott's Bluffs from s melancholy circum-
stance. A number of years since, a party vere descending
the upper part of the river in cances, when their frail
barks were overturned and all their powder speiled,
Their rifles being thus rendered useless, they were
unable to procure food by hunting and had to depend
upon roots and wild fruits for subsistence. After

of the Hebraska, about sixty miles above the cliffs
just mentioned. Here one of the party, by the name
of Scott, vas teken 111; and his companions came %o 2
halt until he should recover heslth and strength
sufficient tc proceed. While they were searching



round in quest of edible roots they discovered a fresh
trail of white men, who had evidently but recently pre-
ceded them. What was to be done? By a forced march
they might overtake this party, and thus be able to
reach the settlements in safety. Should they linger
they might all perish of famine and exhsustion. Scoti,
however, was incapsble of moving; they were too feebls
to aid him forward, and dreaded that such & clog would
prevent their coming up with the advance party., They
determined, therefore, to abandon him to his fate.
Aceordingly, under pretence of seeking food, and such
simples as might be efficacious in his malady, they
deserted him and hastened forward upon the treil. They
succeeded in overtaking the party of which they were in
quest, but concealed their faithless desertion of
Seott; alleging that he had died of disease.

On the ensuing summer, these very individuals
visiting these parts in company with others, came
suddenly upon the bleached bones and grinning skull
of a human skeleton, which by certain signs they
recognized for the remeins of Secott. This was sixty
long miles from the place where they had abandoned
him; and it appesred that the wretched man had crawled
that immense distance before death put an end to his
miseries., The wild and picturesgue bluffs in the
neighborhoed of his lonely grave have ever since
borne his name, §/

It should be remembered, however, that this account is .
cnly one of many and its validity is debatable. Captain
Benneville passed through the area four years after the
tragedy, in June, 1832, The name "Scotts Bluffs” or "Scott's
Bluffs®, gemerally applied to all of the bluffs in the
vieinity of the present Monument, remained until the advent
of ranching and the homesteaders in the 187C's and 1880's,
after which time the connctation was reserved for the single

promontory which now bears the name, "Seotts Bluff”,



¥igration o the est
Following the cpening or rediscovery of the Platte River
route to the west by the fur traders and mountain men of the
1820's and 1830's, it was natwral that other parties should
mmmmuwmnmummw
Oregon country, to the geld fields of California, and to a
religious haven in USah.

In the early 1830's, various parties of missionaries
traveled over the cold traders' rcad to the western mountains
and on to the Pacific Coast. Jason and Daniel Lee were the
first to use the trail and were soon followed by other
missicnaries, Samuel Parker, Marcus Whitman, Henry Spalding,
and William Gray. Elisabeth Spalding and Hareissa Whitmasa,
who traveled west with their busbands in 1836, were the first
white women to see Scotts Bluff, 3/

John Ball is eredited with the first Oregon secular settle~
ment in 1832, Others followed, but not until 1841 did a large
covered wagon train make the entire route, The mass
migration began in 1843 when over 1,000 pecple started for the
great northwestern country in May., The peak year of travel
was evidently 1832 when some 50,000 emigrants pessed through
Mitchell Pass. Most of these were om their way to California
as part of the great Gold Rush. Travel on the Oregon Trail
continued until 1865 when the country was linked by the Unien

Pacific rsilrcad, up the Lodgepole Routs, 50 miles to the south
of Scotts Bluff.



While the Oregon-Californis Trail lay on the south side
of the North Platte River, the Mormons used the north side.
“In the spring of 1847 the Mormen piomeers, 144 strong under
Brigham Toung, traveled to their promised land, Great Salt
Lake Valley is Utah.” 10/ Ancther 4,000 Mormons passed over
the trail in 1848, Scotte Bluff could easily be seen by
these religious emigrants from the north bank and many
mentioned the famous landmark in their journals.

Until about 1851, the pioneers used Robidoux Pass,
located nine miles southwest of the Hational Monument.
Travel between Scotts Bluff and the river was impossible due
to eroded gullies snd badlands, This pass was named for a
trader who had built s blacksmith shop and trading post
there, Facts concerning Robidoux and his agtivitb: in the
area are vague, but it is generally believed that he was the
eldest son of Joseph Robidoux, founder of St. Joseph, Missouri.
His trading post is frequently mentioned by pioneer journalists
from 1849 until 1851, He moved his establishment to Carter
Canyon, about a mile southeast of the original loeation in
1851, v&n be stayed until about the fall of 1852, 11/

The American Fur Trading Company set up a trading post
at Robidoux Pass in 1849 after they had sold their post at
Fort Laramie to the United States Goverament. They later
moved from Robidoux Pass to a site eight miles south and sast
of the Yonument at Helvas Canyon. Little is known about this
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establishment except that it did not last long. It was gen-
irally known as Fort John, or "Fort John, Scott's Bluffs.” It
was off the main trail and became farther removed vhen a new
route to the north thraugh the bluffs via present Mitchell Pass
was developed in 1851, 12/ The Monument headguarters and the
Oregon Trail museum sre situated near HMitchell Pass.

Another establishment of importance to Scotts Bluff was .
Fort Mitchell, It was built in 1864 to protect travel along
this section of the Uregon Trail during = period of Indian
unrest, Fort Mitchell was only a small secondary outpost of
Fort Laramie, some 55 miles to the west. The post was
abandoned about 1867 vhen immediate threat to emigrants seemed
to have decreased. 13/

Besides the pioneer wagon trains passing through Mitchell
Pass, a number of other uses were made of the trail, The Pony
Express used this section of the Trail from April, 1860, until
its last run in October, 1861. Nearby Pony Express stations
included one at Chimney Rock, 23 miles east of Scotts Bluff;
Ficklin Springs, asbout 2 miles east; the Scotts Eluff station,
3 miles west of Mitchell Pass; and Horse Creek, about 18 miles
to the west.



One of the causes of failure for the Pony Express was
the advent of the transcontinental telegraph line, estab-
lished and in use by October, 1861, Russell, Majors, and
Waddell, founders of the Pony Express, then turned their
interests to the Overland Mail Company from whom they
obtained = subcontract to operate a mail and passenger
service over what was known as the “Central Foute." Im
1861-1862, there was stage service up the Flatte route.
This activity did not last long due to Indian troubles in
the area and the route was moved to the south, up the
Lodgepole route. 14/

Settlement Perdod
After the transcontinental railrcad was completed in

1869, the Oregon-California Trail ceased to exist as =
migration route to the Pascific., After geld was discovered
in the Black Hills of South Dakota in 1874, a gold rush
began. There were two maim trails inte the Hills from the
south, but neither passed by Scotts Bluff. Une of these
started from Cheyenne, Wyoming and passed through Fert
Laremie. The other, and perhaps the most used, was the
Sidney-Deadwood route. A bridge across the North Platte at
Camp Clark, near present Bridgeport, saved the gold seekers
time from the railrcad junction at Sidney.
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Ranchers moved into the Nerth Platte Valley around 1870,
end by 1872, some 60,000 head of cattle were located on Horse
ka,ammdhswatcfsmumnff.ﬁ/ From this
tiﬁmﬂﬂ.boﬂﬁ%&,th_eatﬂomtlww in the
valley. Inflation of the cattle market, overstosking, over-
wm,mmmmmc:mmmm
cattle industry to suffer greatly and it was not long before
ranching was of secondary importance in the vieinity of
Scotts Bluff. Homesteaders moved intc the North Platte Valley
and steked out claims in the early 1880's. Towns soon made
their appearance. Uering was platted in 1888 and becanme a
center of farming and ranching activity. Other towns soon
came into being.

The last large town to be platted was Scottsbluff. VWhen
the Burlington railroad reached up the valley on the north
gide of the river in 1900, a rush was started to build aleng
this route across the river from Gering. Ten years later the
Union Pacific railroad came up the south side of the river.
The Burlington had & jump on the people on the south bank of
the North Platte, however, and Scottsbluff steadily grew into
the largest town in the County of Scotis Bluff., Today,
Seottsbluff has e population of about 14,000, while Gering,
the county seat, has about 5,000,

)3



During the late years of the nineteenth century, the old
Oregon Trail was used mostly by the military between Forts
Kearny and Laramie, for cattle drives, and by freighters,
ranchers and farmers, and travelers between the communities
which had sprung up along the south bank of the North Platte.
The Oregon~California Trail soon became a part of history.
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The National Park Movement
"History has not recorded who originally conceived the

idea of making Scotts Bluff a Hational Monument, but it turned
out to be a good idea. 16/ Although there was undoubtedly some
talk about the area being of national importance before 1914,
it was not until then that any real action was taken. On

March 28 of that year, Senator G. M. Hitchecock wrote Assistant

Secretary of the Interior, Adelph C. Miller, mquiring about
making Scotts Bluff a Hational Monument., Senator Hitcheoek
noted that Mayor F, 8, MeCaffree of Scottsbluff was interested
and thought a Monument should be set aside. 17/

Evidently, nothing came of this first inquiry since there
are no records on the subject until 1916 when more interest
was aroused, Early that year, Congressman Moses P, Kinkaid
wrote to Stephen T, Mather, Assistant to the Secretary of the
Interior, requesting information about Scotts Bluff and how it
could be made a National Monument or a National Park. 18/ At
this time, H, J, Wisner, editor of the Scotisbluff Daily Star-
Herald, also wrote Mather requesting the same information.
These inquiries were duly answered, but the officials of the
Interior Department seemed to have little or no interest in
such a project at this tine,



After the establishment of the National Park Service as
an agency of the Department of the Interior, on August 25, 1916,
more interest in this project was created all over Hebraska.
Congressman Kinkaid did not waste much time in applying to
Franklin X, Lane for a proclamation establishing the ares as
a National Park. This petition, dated Octcber 5, 1916, was
signed by Nebraska's Senators and Representatives in Washingtonm,
in duplicate, by G. M. Hitehcock, G. W. Norris, Charles Sloan,
A. C, Shallenberger, C. O, Lobeck, and also by Dan V. Stephens. 13/

In HMarch, 1918 another petition arrived on Director Mather's
desk, signed by the Mayor of Gering, T. L. O'Harra; Dr. W. M,
Faught, Mayor of Scottsbluff, H. T. Bowen, President of the
Seottsbluff Commercial Club; A, B, Wood, President of the Gering
Community Club; and M. R. Humes, Secretary of the Scotts Bluff
County Country Club. 20/ Both A, B. Wood, who was editor of
the Gering Couyrier, and H, J. Wisner, editor of the Jgottsbluff
Daily Star-Herald, gave credit to the ides in their newspapers.

With all of this interest being showm, Secretary Lane
directed Mr. Mather to investigate the feasibility of having
Scotts Bluff incorporated into the National Park System. The
Bureau of Land Management was asked to make studies of the
matter., Memorands circulated among the various employees in
the National Park Service office in the Interior Building and
from the various issistant Secretaries, Robert L. Yard,
Hational Parks Publicity Chief, informed Assistant Directer
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Horace Albright that he was dubious about Scotis Bluff's im-
portance. 21/ Albright sent Mather a memorandum stating that

be was against the esteblishment of Scotts Bluff as a Momument. 22/
It should be noted that Mr. Albright later reversed his views

and became a staunch supporter of Scotts Bluff, visiting it
tmmmmmnmm,mmmzyuspmm;rw
insugurating the "era of development” ia 1933,

In October, 1919, more office memorands circulsted. The
fellowing is significant: 23/

“Oetober 26, 1919,
Dear Mr. Mather:-

I don't know what has led you to thinking that
Scotts Bluff should be a Hational Momiment. It seems
to 3@ tc be but a bump of land. Have you given it youwr
personsl attention? If you have, won't you let the
Secretary have a memorandum as %o just why you think
it should be withdrawm.

Cordially yours,
(3gd) Cotter,
Administrative Assistant.”

To this Director Mather replied: 24/

“Memc, for Mr. Cotter:

Yes, xmchWMutm. It
is true Scott!s Bluff (sic) is only a bump of land, but
it is some bump. It's historic assocciations, coupled
with the fact that it is possible of development for
the tourist and visitor, make it attractive for natiomal
nomument purposes. The 0ld Oregon Trail, the pathway
of the settlers of the Northwest, passing through
Mitchell Pass within its limits, and the fact that the
bluffs served as a landmark and rendezvous for the
early picneers make it . . . worthy of preservation
e ¢ o It is time that a few of these historic spots
be properly marked and kept in their original state.
Without such forethought the march of economic devel-
opment westwardly will before many years make such
reservations impossible. I think the reservation of
this momument will be a step ahead, and in the right

direction.
(Sgd.) Stephen T, Mather,
Director”



Local support for the area as a National Park or Monu~
ment was given much publicity in the newspapers at this time,
%o records sre known to show any opposition to the idea,
ﬂwcemtmmmismmtohnmcritiamd -
for not having the arez established as a full fledged National
?ark, rather than a Hationsl Momument. 25/

By December 1919, a proclamstion bad been drawn up and
set before Fresident Wilson. Since this proclamation had
the support of the Director and the Department, there was
no hesitancy shown on the President’s part in signing i%,
and he duly signed on December 12, Although there are
erronecus statements in the document, it is the original
and legal instrument for withdrawing the area and preserving
it for the bemefit of future gemerations of Americans. 26/
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Decesber 20, he wired the Washington Offiee: 30/

w&%&% tress on W@w‘m@f jsia/
aé&:&z é??@z’ m man 1 bo g@m} mk

or z“‘ﬁm éays«.

m %&ma fi% @ays a@@a&aﬁ }&e& &f‘ ﬁmﬁa.

ing his new duties. He evidently went to the Monu

often during his tenure of office. His freguent
with the 4f von U8 indicntes this., ﬁt@@% .
Maupin did not entirely understand the various policies whiech

dministration, rules,and regu~

and quite often went shout
vements under his own



In February, 1922 he wrote the Director a letter (he
evidently did not know or understand the correct procedure
of communications by memorands and always sent letters or
telegrams, the former were usually under the letterhead
of the Gering Midwest) explaining the matter of his own
expense of running the Monument, but that he was gquite will-
ing and able to do so. Despite repeated deniasls of reguests
for funds for various matiters, he seemed undisturbed and
continued his requests during his tenure. He earmestly
requested a regulation revolver, a holster, belt, and
ampunition, a regulation rifle, a motorecycle, and a type-
writer. 32/ Again, the financisl situation for National
Monuments was such that these requests were denied, but he
later received a badge and s pair of binoculars ss sub~
stitubes. 33/

During the last days that Mr. Maupin served as Custodian,
his own business in Gering began to fail. When he had the
chance tc sell his newspaper he accepted the offer and
resigned his office ss Custodian, effective July 1, 1924.

In spite of all these setbacks, Custodian Maupin did
achieve some improvement. His report for ?921_ indicates he
was able to install "several” picamic tables near the foot
of the original slanting trail to the summit on the east
face. These were paid for by the Scottsbluff Commercial Club
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and perhaps by loesl donations, although existing records ave
not clear on this peint. He did receive one allotment of

$50 from Washington om April 2, 1923. This smount was finally
approved ,after strenucus efforts on his part, to improve the
emall picnic sree referred to. With it he built one fire-
place and repeired the tebles already set up.

Mr. &upin alsc granted one grazing permit to 4, 5,
Bracken whe had been using the Honmument for several years.
When the Monument was withdrawn from public use, it was
necessary that Mr, Bracken be issued 2 temporary permit for
grazing with the stipulation that all such grazing activities
would cease within three years. Mr. Brescken's perpmit was
valid from Janusry 1, 1921 through December 31, 1921 for
which he paid an §88 fee. 34/ FHe made no effort to renew
this permit and grazing stopped in the area umtil 1943 when
the war effort required grazing on certain National Park
lands,

Visitation records for the first five years of the
Monument are almost nonexistent. Acting Director Armo B.
Cammerer wired Maupin for his estimate for the year 1920,
the first year of cperation., The Custodian replied that
some 2,500 people used the old foot trail and wooden
ladder at the summit (placed there before the Monument was
established) and that another 5,000 had picnicked on the
"slopes” of the bluff between April 15 and October 15. 35/



After Mr, Maupin left Gering in July, 1924 the Monument
vas without a Custodian for over a year and there are no
records for that period.
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Custodlan Mathers
Director Mather had difficulty in finding a new Custodian

after Will Maupin's departure. The position was nominal and
few local men would agree to take on the responsibilities at
a salary of §12 a year., However, in August 1925, Nebraska
Congressman Robert Simmons recommended to the Director, Mr,
Albert N, Mathers as Custodian. 36/

Mr, Mathers, President of the Gering National Bank, ac-
cepted the position when notified by the Washington Office,
and took office on September 4. He had been a resident of
Nebraska most of his life, having been born at Nebraska City.
When he died on April 18, 1951, at the age of 69, he was
8till President of the Gering bank, 37/ He served as
Custodian of Scotts Bluff until June 15, 1934 when he re-
signed to run for Congress.

Evidontly the persistent recommendations and proposals
of Mr, Maupin had made an impression in Washington. In
June 1926, Custodian Mathers was surprised to receive $100
for new picnic tables and other accommodations at the small
picnie area, The entire allotment for the Monument for fiscal
1927 amounted to $162, The remaining amount was for personal
services (salary) and for sanitation and garbage disposal. 38/



With the $100, Mr. Mathers was able to have constructed
one "double closet”, two cement fireplaces, and 15 pocﬁ.
39/ After much cofrespondence with the Washington Office,
Mr, Mathers was also able to start plans on Wr project.
This was the comstruction of a2 new trail on the east face of
the bluff to replsce the original slanting foot path, It
was agreed that a total of §1,000 would be spent on this
project. The Hatiomel Park Service would match funds amount-
ing to $500 to be raised by Mathers through domations,
subscriptions, and contributions. Actual direction of the
work would be carried out by Park Service perscmnel. 40/

¥ith this sgreement, preliminary work commenced. ir.
Bert E. Burrell, civil engineer from Yellowstone Naticnsl
Park, errived scon after the first of the fiscal year and
spent about one month at the Honument surveying and staking
out the route of the new trail. It was decided at this
tize the best and easiest ascent could be made by zig-sagging
the trail from the base of the bluff at the site of the
pienic area to the point where the wooden ladder or stairway
was located. 41/ Another route could be taken by the hiker
near the top of the trail by welking along s ledge on the
west side of the projection known as "saddle roek"” 42/ and
thence tc the summit by means of another dig-zagging path.



Actual construction work was held up until Custodian
Mathers could raise the stipulated §500. During the winter
months of 1926-27, many organizations contributed to the
project and citizens from all over the North l;lata Valley
sent in their pemnies and dollars to help raise the necessary
funds, Each contributor received a signed certificate giving
him or her permission tc use the new trail, This was merely
an honorary permit since nc fee was charged for using the
trail,

By the end of April 1927, the $500 wes raised and the
Government promptly matched this amount. Mr. Arthwr ¥,
Burney, Hational Park Service Engineer who was at Yellowstone
National Park st the time, left there on May 16 to take charge
of construction. 43/

Many organizations and business tirﬁa had contributed
to the project., The Gering and Fort Laremie Irrigation
District donated explosives for use in blasting out rock
along the route. The Boy Scouts of America, through the
scout troops of Scottsbluff and Gering, contributed time
and manpower to the job. Because of the cooperation of
this organization in helping tc raise funds the new trail
was officially designated the “Scout Trail”, although most
people referred to it simply as the "zig-zag” trail.
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"READ THIS
FEDERAL LAW: HORSES OR MOTORCYCLES FORBIDDEN
ON THIS TRAIL., KEEP ON THE PATH. ALL CUITING
 ACROSS CORNERS, OR FROM PATH TO PATH, OR
SLIDING, IS STRICTLY FORBIDDEN, OFFENDERS
WILL BE PERSECUTED fedic/. CASH REWARD PAID
FOR MAMES OF ALL VIOLATERS, THE GOVERNMENT
HATICNAL PARK SERVICE"
Custodian Mathers was ordered to change the wording to: 47/
"READ THIS
HORSES OR MOTORCYCLES FORBIDDEN ON THIS TRAIL.
KEEP ON THE PATH. ALL CUITING ACROSS CORNERS
OR FROM PATH TO PATH, OR SLIDING, IS STRICTLY
FORBIDDEN,

HATIONAL PARK SERVICE
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR"

Other improvements were made to this area during the

~ years of 1928, 1930, and 1931, In August 1928, the cities
of Seottsbluff and Gering cooperated in having & power line
run into the pienic area and street lights were installed.
The loecal chapter of the Daughters of the American Revolution
in 1930 had a "Memorisl Arch” erected at the foot of the new
$rail., A bronze plague in memory of Hiram Scott was embedded
in a granite boulder erected at the site. This was just to
the north of the Memorial Arch vhile the wooden "Federal
Law" sign wes just to the south of the arch.

Custodian Mathers had a new interpretive sign made and
placed at Mitchell Pases just s few feet away from the
original granite marker erected there by the State of
Hebrasks in 1912, The new sign contained some misinformstion
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evested visitor. It read:

AND 1865 WoRE %
S PASSED HERE, WESTWARD BOUND,
?ﬁﬁz& " %%m %m %@&ﬁ@ HORE THAH

%@@i}m |
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR®

NATIONAL PARK SEAVICE
This sign remained in the pass wntil 1939 vhen it was rve-
placed by & nore

sccurate sign affized to = pylom

There was still some opposition to having Seotis Bluff
28 = Habional Honuwent in the late 1920's, The Habtiecnal

of Ztate Parks proposed to the Director in 1928

Park Service transfer Scotts Bluff $o the
State of Sebrasks for the purpose of makinmg it & 3tate Park,
There was some fesling that the Federal G

paying enough sttention or expending adeg
of the ¥

Punds Tor sops

lion’s shere of the appropristions. 48/ There was still

considerable local pressure to further develop Scotts Bluff

i

and this,perhaps, had some hand in getting such a proposs

through the Conference. Stephen T, Mether denied this
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propesal, but his time as Director was growing near the end,
and when he resigned in January 1929 the position went to one-
time opponent of the Monument, Horace Albright.

Interest in the building of a road or highway to the
summit of the bluff seemed to grow in the mid and late 1920's,
Custodian Maupin's 1920 proposal, although laughed at then,
had not been forgotien. Just before leaving office, Maupin
had received a copy of a resolution by the Yoder, Wyoming
Chamber of Commerce tc the Director: 43/

“"Whereas, the Scottsbluff NHational Monument is a
beautiful and worth while attraction, and
especially to our community which is devoid
of hills and mountains,

Therefore, Be It Resclved, that we reguest the
Hon, 5. T, Mather, Director of National Parks
and Monuments, to appropriate sufficient funds
towi&ahfw:amtmﬁonmntuy
be accessable /sie/,

And, That en sutomcbile road be comstructed from the
base of the monument to the top thereof,

ind, That sufficient funds be appropriated for the
putting of a well on the top of the bluff,

and, That the forest reserve be requested to provide
and plant suitable tress on the monument.”

Following this resolution, which was publicized in
several local newspapers, more lstters and requestes followed.
The Gerdng Courder end the S
editorialized on the merits of such a project and several
letters to the editors of both papers supported the idea.

Unly ome or two letters opposed it and the Scotisbluff Pioneer

went on record as opposing any such project which would spoil
the scenery of the bluff, 50/




 Director Albright was invited to visit the Monument and
see for himself what could be done tec promote the bluff as an
attraction to visitors from other states. He sgreed and
arrived on June 16, 1931 with F, 4, Kittredge, Chief Enginesr
of the Service, and Clifford Shoemaker, Chief Engineer of the
Bureau of Public Roads, Distriect 5. A gemerasl survey had been
going on by the Bureau for the past several weeks and this
visit coineided with the final report.

Custodian Mathers, Congressman Simmons, 4. B, Weod, H. J.
Dollinger, and H, J, Wisner accompsnied Director Albright on a
tour of the Momument. They hiked the foot trail tc the summit,
drove to Mitchell Pass, and met with a commitiee of interested
persons concerning the future development of the ares. Albright
stayed three days and approved verbally the construction of a
road to the suprit, The report of the Bureau of Publie Foad
surveyors allowed that such 2 road eculd be construeted. 51/

Mr, Albright was evidently impressed by the view from the summit
and is reported to have said that he had nc idea of the scenic
ané historic significance of the Honument. 32/

In spite of all of the enthusiasm for development, lack
of funde still prevented any real work tc be started. The
Monument's annual budget for fiseal 1931 was $212 of which §12
was for salary and {200 for campground improvement. At this
time, there were 20 picnic benches at the site and reports in-
dicate that it was being used almost continuously during the
summer months.
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Director Albright was determined to develop the Monument
and returned the next year for another inspection. On Sunday,
September 11, 1932, he was accorded a public reception and
pienic at the MW. The Star-Herald reported that 2,000
people attended the gathering and the Scottsbluff municipal
band participated. 53/ Albright spoke at this event and
stated that construction of a summit road was now assured since
more federal funds were being made available to help fight
the depression which was then in full progress. The recepticn
was sponsored by the Associated Chambers of Commerce of the
North Platte Valley. Heturning with Mr. Albright on the
second trip was Mr, Shoemsker. Other guests included Vernme
Chatelaine, Hational Park Service Historien; Howard W. Baker,
then a Landscape Architect, now Regional Director of Region
Two; Edmund B, Rogers, Superintendent of Rocky Mountain
Hational Park; and Edward Freelund, Superintendent of Wind Cave
Hational Park, South Dakota. 54/

At this time, some talk and discussion was given to a
proposed Oregon Trail Natiomal Parkway. Although nothing
ever came of this idea, it remained a live issuve well into the
late 1930's. Mr. Albright favored this project at the time,
but later Natiomal Park Service records indicate that con-
flicts of land interests and other considerstions prevented
any real action toward achievement.,
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Bureau of Public Roads officials had alsc returned to the
Monument and staked out the spproved route of the new road
during the sumer., Now, only funds were needed to start
construction.

With the advent of increasing federal funds to help fight
the sffects of the depression, the picture at the Monument
looked brighter. This was especially true with the change of
administrations in March, 1933. Custodian Mathers received
enough funds from federal appropriations to start rough grading
to the site of the first of three tunnels to be blasted
through projections along the route of the summit read. Work
alsc began on construction of a parking area at the east end
of Mitchell Pass where a museum was also to be located.
Construction of a new foot trail from Seotts Spring to a
juncture with the Scout Trail near the top of "Saddle Rock"
was started at the same time. To reach this junction, e smell
tunnel was blasted through “saddle roeck”. Although records
are not clear on these various aspects of early construction,
it is known from subsequent reports that all phases were
cgrried out by a private contractor, the E, W, N¥ichols Con-
struction Company 35/,and that the total contract allotment
was $9,000. Howard W, Baker, landscape architect, at this
time, now Director of Region Twe of the National Park Service,
was in immediate charge of these operations while the Bureau
qrmuewadmm:;mtm“meawmwmm.
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temporary charge of administrative duties commected with this
work, About 213 men were employed on the project and all were

hired from assignments of the Scotts Bluff County Re-employment
Office. ﬁ/

Oddly enough, work started on the upper parking ares of
the bluff at the same time as on the first tunnel. This was
due to the desirsbility of placing a large force of men to
work immediately. It was not possible tc employ a large
nuzber of men on the tunneling where the confined area inter-
fered. Men working on the summit perking area excavation were
obliged to climb the mew foot trail to work each day, taking
hand tools and wheelbarrews with them. No heavy eguipment
was used on any of these projects at this time except for a
few trucks to haul dirt and rock away from the tunmeling
operations. 59/

At the time this construction work was getting under way,
a Historieal and Archeclogical Reconnaissance Survey was
organized to explore the immediste region to locate historiesl
and archeclogical sites for later excavation and obtain other
data for inclusion in the proposed museum at the base of the
summit road. Dr. Harold J. Cock of Agate, Hebraska, under-
took the formation and organization of this research group on
December 18, 1933. 3ix men worked on this survey. 60/



king ares excavetion, workse

gtruction.




was obliged to resign his positio

effective on Jume 15, 1934. Dr. Cook wss mede Acting Custodisn

snd later on December 20 he was sppointed Custodian and thereby
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in 1933, surprisingly, showed that all of the development on
the east sicpe of the bluff was on privately owned land and




Henceforth, all attention was focused on the west side and noth-
ing further was ever done with the facilities at the base of
the Scout Trail,

It became apparent by early 1935 that more action was needed
to speed up operations. Working through Congressman Terry
Carpenter, who had defeated former Custodian Albert N,
Mathers in the 1934 Congressional election, and with other
interested persons assisting, Custodian Cook was able to get
a Civilian Conservation Corps camp built in the "badlands"
area of the Monument in April. A large consignment of CCC
men moved in immediately to commence work where the C.W.A,
 and P,W.A. crews had left off, G4/ As many as 200 men weve
stationed at this camp at various times., The camp, No, 762,
was constructed mostly of wood and adobe and was evidently
intended to be semi-permanent., Other CCC camps nearby in-
cluded one mear Mitehell, Nebraska and one at the Wildeat
Hills State Fark. Crews from each of these camps stayed at
Camp 762 for a short time while their own were being built.

~ With the advent of CCC labor at the Monument and new
work prejiota being planned and executed, it was decided by
the Washington Office that Dr., Cook should be appointed as -
Project Superintendent. Although this designation did not
take effect until April 30, Cook had been informed of his
new appointment and that his position as Custodian would have
to be terminated. He was, however, designated as Acting



Custodien until the end of June. The correspondence on this
reads:

"Aprdl 11, 1935
Dr, Harold J. Cook, -
Custodian, Seotts Bluff Nat'l Monument feie/

Dear Dr, Cook: :
You are hereby designated Aeting Custodian,..
of Seotte Bluff Hational Momument for the duration
of your »ﬁayunt under ECW as Project Superintendent.
Formal notification of this appointment will follow
as soon as effected, "
Sincerely yours,

(sgd.) 4. B. Demaray
Acting Director"”

TApril 24, 1935
Mr. Harold J. Cook
of Nebraska.

Bir:

You have been appointed by the Secretary of the
Interior, subject to taking the cath of office, a
Project Superintendent Gr. 10, on Emergency Conser-
vation Vork, at a salary of $2300 pa, effective on
the date of entrance on duty; assigned to Jootis
Bluff National Moamnt. Nebr., mﬁm Exe, A,
as Custodian at $12 pa., regulsr service,

This appointment is for emergency work for such
period of time as your services may be required on
such work and funds are available therefor, but not
to extend beyond June 30, 19350000

R'.pﬁm’
(8gd.) Guy W, Numbers
Aeting Chief, Division of
Appointments, Mail and Files." §3/
During the year and a half that Dr. Cook served at

Seotte Bluff, it would seem that he held five or six differ-
ent positions at one time or another: Leader of the Research
Group, Temporary Ranger, Acting Custodian, Custodian, Project
Superintendent, and again, Acting Custodian.
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Charles E, Randels, National Park Service engineer, ar-
rived at the Monument at this same time to assist in planning
and supervising actual work, Mr, Randels divided his time
between Scotts Bluff and Devils Tower National Monument
where certain phases of federal relief programs were being
conducted,

By late spring plans for the museum and headquarters
building 66/ had been completed and funds were made avail-
able by the Public Worke Administration for construction.
The Fullen Construction Company of Gering (now located in
Scottsbluff) was awarded the contract on their low bid of
$9,507. €1/ This contract was for construction of one room
and a small lobby which was completed in the summer of 1935.
This room was known as the "History Room" until 1960 when
its name was changed to the "Oregon Trail Room",

The C.C.C., crews resumed grading and filling operations
on the summit road soon after establishing their camp in
Aprdl 1935, Work also commenced on the new pienic grounds
west and south of Mitchell Pass, a road from the site of the
museum to the camp in the badlands by way of Scotte Spring
and the Scotts Bluff Country Club, a water supply system,
fencing of the federally-owned boundaries, and seeding and
planting operations. The water supply system was vital since
the demands of the camp were great., Pipe lines were dug and
pipe laid underground to the new pienic area and to reservoirs

ol



on the bluff above headquarters. This system, with some later
modifications, is still being used for the water supply at
headquarters.

On June 15, _1935. Custodian Cook was notified that he
was being relieved of his position at Scotts Bluff., He
continued, however, as Acting Custodian and Project Super-
intendent until July 15 when Secretary of the Interior,
Hareld Ickes, notified Mr. Randels that he was appointed
to succeed Dr. Cook. 68/ '
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Custodian fandels
Charles E, Randels was the first regular National Park
Service employee to hold the office of custodian at the
Monument., He caerried the designation of "acting custodian’
during the three-year period he was in charge. Randels was
also responsible for all construction work until he left on
June 25, 1938, 69/

Horrill J, Mattes arrived on October 1, 1935 from his
seasonal ranger position at Yellowstone National Park and
was given the designation of Junior Historlan., He took
charge of the interpretive program of the Monument and worked
out of the new one-room museum building when it was completed
by the contractor in the fall of 1935. 70/

At this time, C, B. Turner was appointed superintendent
of the 0.C.C, camp,but he resigned in November 1936 and
Harlan G, Hutchins was appointed in his place. 71/ Mr.
Hutehins was alse part~time superintendent of the C.C.C.
camp located at the Wildeat Hills State Park., Among the
foremen in charge of the various opouuapu@ were Charles
E. Humberger, C. W. Nichols, and B, L. Hoyt. Camp 762 also
published its own newspaper, the mm a monthly,
printed by the Geriag Courier.

After the excavation of the third tunnel and the
guniting of all three tunnels by the contractor Gross &



Stevens 72/, all excess rock and dirt vere removed from the summit
road and grading and £illing operations were completed so that
paving could be done. The Northwestern Engineering Company

of Rapid City, South Dakota, won the contract for this phase

of the work and spent the summer of 1937 laying the cement

paving. 13/

Meanwhile, the new museum building (remamed the Visitor
Center in 1956) was completed. Exhibits from the Western
Museun Laborstory at Berkeley, California were installed and
it was decided to officlally dedicate the facility with appro-
priate ceremonies, Thursday, July 16, 1936, was chosen because
of its connection with the Oregon Trail Days, an annual cele-
bration held in Gering. H. J. Dollinger, Secretary of the
Seottebluff Chamber of Commerce, acted as Master of Ceremonies
for the dedication. OSpeakers on the program included Acting
Custodian Randels, A, B, Wood, former Custodian Mathers, T. L.
Green of Scottsbluff, and H, J. Wisner, editor of the Jgotts-
bluff Dedly Star-Herald. William Henry Jackson, 93-year old
artist and photographer of the Vest, was the principal speaker
of the afternocon., Jackson had passed through Mitchell Pass
70 years before on his way to California es a bullwhacker
with a wagon train., An interpretive marker in Mitchell Pass
marks the site where he and his group of freighters camped in
August, 1866, Sioux Indians and band music added color to the
dedication. 74/
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The swmit road was completed and officially opened on
Sunday, September 19, 1937. A reported 550 cars used the new
facility the first day 75/ During this time C.C.C. workers
started work on a new adobe wing of the museum for geclogical
and paleontological displays. Offices and a rest room were
also added., Other comstruction at headquarters included a
three-room residence and a utility building. landscaping and
planting operations continued to help erase the scars of
constiuction around headquarters, on the summit road, and the
parking areas, These operations continued until the abandon~
ment of the C.C.C. camp on May 31, 1938, 76/

Increased visitation to the Monument and the heavy use
of the picnic grounds made it necessary to employ additional
protective officers. In 1935, a seasconal ranger was provided
and in 1937, a second such position was added. Paul O, MeCGrew,
who was the first seasonal ranger in 1935, became a CCC
foreman in 1936, and in that capacity took charge of
archeological and paleontological eolloct‘im. He was again
& seasonal ranger during 1937, Kenneth Wolcott was the seasonal
ranger during 1936, Nearly 64,000 people visited the area in
1937. U/

When most of the planned work was nearing completion in
early 1938, it was deeided to remove the C.C.C. camp and trans-
fer the men to other assignments. Dismantling operations
started gnd were completed in April 1939 by skeleton crews
from the camp near Mitehell and W.P.A. labor. 78/



By May 1938, the seccnd wing had beem added to the museum
building, 79/ along with the two offices (lipper and lower”),
and the "tower”room. The adobe residence was completed and
Historian Mattes moved into it in early May, §0/ During the
last months that C.C.C. labor was available, the old road be-
tween the Scotts Bluff Country Club and headquarters was
obliterated (this was a "short-cut’road which led from head-
quarters to the C.C.C, camp) and the Mitchell Pass highway
(State 86) was nearly finished., The reconmstruction of graveled
trans-monument Highway 86 had begun in 1937 with realignment,
grading, and £illing and sodding on the shoulders as a C.C.C,
project. It was continued as a W,P.A, project with the State
of Nebraska oil-surfacing it in 1940,

Acting Custodian Randels left Scotts Bluff at the time
the C.C.C., camp was dismantled. He continued to work as
engineer with the Region Two Office of the National Park
Service and died in April 1944 at Tucson, Arizona, MHerrill J.
Mattes succeeded Randels as Custoedian on June 25, 1938, §1/
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Custodian Mattes
Improvement activities tapered off with the abandonment

of the C.C.C. camp and by 1940 neo work of any major importance
was being done. After the camp moved out, Works Frojects Ad-
ministration crews continued to do scme work in the area.

This final phase of development lasted until June 30, 1939. §2/
Gmall erews accomplished, among other things, enlargement of
the pienie grounds parking area, construction of barriers to
the headquarters area, construction of entrance pylons along
State Highway 86, and improvement of the parking area at Mitchell
Pass, construction of interpretive markers there and at"Obser-
vation Point” on the sumit. These crews also worked on State
Highway 86, the building of display cases for the second, or
"prehistory,wing” of the museum, and improvement of the road
which runs through the badlands. §3/

The granite boulder located at the base of the Scout Trail
in 1930 was moved to Scotts Spring in June 1938 when the old
pienic grounds were abandoned. The bronze entablature furn~
ished by the local chapter of the D.A.R. in 1930 was left intact.

Sinece the bronze entablature memorialized Hiram Seott, it
wage thought that Scotts Spring was not a good location for it.
There is no historical evidence that Scott died at this spring,
but a memorial to him there might lead visitors to believe that
he did sctually die there. The granite boulder was moved to
the site of the unknown graves of pioneers in Robidoux Pass



in October 1941 where it remaine. The entablature was removed
at this time and is kept at headquarters. A memorial plague to
Seott was placed on the summit of the bluff in 1959 and current
thinking is that such a memorisl is best located there.

In August 1938, the Oregon Trail Memorial Associstion held
its annual meeting at Scottsbluff and at the Monument., At this
time, Dr, Howard R, Driggs, President of the Association,
pregented to Custodian Mattes the two bronze memorial plaques
that now hang on the wall of the museum lobby. At this time,
too, William Henry Jackson paid his last vieit to the Monument
whenhe drove a stake at the site of his 1866 camp site at
Mitohell Pass. 84/ The original sign located here, marking
the camp site, was removed in 1959 when a new routed wood inter-
pretive marker with attached reproductions of three of his
paintings was installed.

During the summer of 1938, Custodian Mattes also served
a8 "Acting Custodien” for the newly established Fort Laremie
National Monument (now Fort Larvamie National Historie Site),
55 miles west in Wyoming.

Mr. Mattes was gone from the Monument during the winter
of 1938-39. He had accepted a Yale University fellowship 85/
and left the middle of September. §6/ David de Laney Condon,
a district ranger at Yellowstone National Park, arrived on
September 15 to assupe duties as acting custodian in Mr,
Mattes' absence, §7/ Mr. Condon remained at Scotts Bluff



only watil November 1, Temporary ranger Charles E, Husberger,
on duty the summer of 1938, was granted an extension of his
appointment and became acting custodian, serving umtil Mr,
Mattes returned the following Jume, §8/ Mr. Humberger had
been & C.C.C. foreman and transferred to the Hationmal Fark
Service when the camp was abandoned, He also directed W.F.A,
operations during his tenure, £3/

The year 1939 saw the first Soap Box Derby at the Monu-
ment. This unofficial event was held at the base of the summit
road each year until 1951, except during the war years. 90/

In 1939, a reported approximately 10,000 people gathered to
witness this regional running, 91/ some 12,000 in 1940 92/,
and 7,500 in 1941 23/, The attendance dropped off after the
war years until, in 1951, only about 850 attended., Lack of
interest and too few entrants were among the chief reasons

for discontinuing this annual event. 94/ In 1939, 1940, 1941,
and 1946, assistence was requested from Rocky Mountain National
Park and several rangers from there were on hand to help regu~
late traffic and parking during the event. In followlng years,
Seotts Bluff personnel handled the affair themselves, execept
in 1947 when the Nebraska State Safety Patrol helped to
regulate traffic in the general avea. 25/



In 1939, the last of the Summit Road work was completed.
This was the stabilizing of the tunnel portals and side guards
with gunite by a private contractor. 96/ Total construction
cost of this road was §200,265. Work done since then has been
limited to routine patching and maintenance.

The year 1939 saw the last use of the pienic grounds
located south of Mitchell Pass, Custodian Mattes had
written to Superintendent Canfield of Roeky Mountain National
Park concerning the condition of the area. 27/ Frevious to
this, a conference held at Focky Mountain between Regionsl
Pirvector Thomas J. Allen, Jr., and Superintendent Canfield,
had decided to establish a poliey of not providing pienic
faeilities at Scotts Bluff, 28/ The Washington Office had
approved this poliey, 329/ and Custodian Mattes released the
following news item on Sop«mbur 15'. 1939: 100/

"The Mitechell Pass pienic grounds will be closed
effective londay, September 18, it was announced today
by the National Park Service. In this connection, the
following statement was issued by Merrill J. Mattes,
custodian /sic/ of Scotts Bluff National Monument,

For three years the picnic grounds at Scotts
Bluff National Monument have been open to the un-
restricted use of the publie. The popularity of this
recreation area has grown far beyond original expec~
tations, with five to six thousand pecple pienicking
here each month, during the summer season,

Unfortunately this overuse of the grounds and
facilities has resulted in the gradual destruction of
vegetation. The grass cover has been cut away and
ground down under several inches of dust, In spite of
posted regulations to the contrary, trees have been
stripped of brdnches and chopped down, leaving un-
sightly stumps. HRavines and gullies have been littered
with rubbish., The grounds are becoming denuded and
unsightly.
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It is the policy of the National Park Service to
preserve its parks and monuments in as natural eondition
ag possible, To conform with this poliecy, we {ind it
necessary to close the pienic grounds, in order to
prevent further damage, which would inevitably result
in & dust~-bowl condition., Eventuaslly pienickers them-
selves would abandon this area in Pavor of more pleasant
surroundings.

By c¢losing this pienie area for an indefinite
period, vegetation will have an opportunity to recover,
and it may be possible to open the grounds for re-
stricted use, at a later date."

This release explained in frank terme the reasons for ite
closing., At this time, 1%t was intended to close the area for
only an "indefinite period", but by the spring and summer of
1940 1t was fuwrther decided to abandon it altogether, 101/ and
an appropriate news item appeared in local papers. A few
"letters to the editor” appeared in the Jgottabluff Daily Star-
Herald during the month of April 1940, complaining about ite
closing, but there appeared to be no concerted affort on the
part of local eitizens: and organizations to re-open it at this
time, 102/ Rocky Mountain National Park participated in the
decision to close the picnic grounds as by 1939 it was involved

in Scotte Bluff Hational Monument affairs.

During the early days of administration, the custodians
were directly responsible to the Director., After the "era of
development” became a reality in 1933, it was found that addi-
tional help was sometimes needed from accounting and adminis-
tration standpoints.



On August 1, 1937, the National Park Service was reglon-
alized, Scotte Bluff National Monument fell under the
jurisdiction of Region Two, with offices in Omaha, Nebraska.
It was also thought expedient to have certain of the smaller
Monuments consolidated under one coordinating suporinundont,
and in June 1939 Scotts Bluff and Fort Laramie came under the
jurisdiction of Roeky Mountain National Park., Nearly all
operations of Scotts Bluff were under the Superintendent of
Rocky Mountain end the 8ustodian was obliged to report
directly to him, The Superintendent, in turn, had to coneur
with any reports, requests, or recommendations that the
Custodian had to make before sending them on to the Regional
or Washington offices. |

In 1950, plans were formulated io have each lonument
Superintendent once more administer his own area. By 1951,
this became a reaslity and Superintendent Budlong received
word to the effect that "..... operations at your areas will
no longer be under a Coordinating Superintendent, except the
functions necessarily integrated with accounting operations
will continue to be performed by Rooky Mountain National Park
+v..You are responsible to this office for all other phases
of the operation of your areas....fou will report on all
matters to the Regional Director....fou will be expected to
assume full charge of administration at your area...." 103/
Later the Reglonal Office assumed accounting and purchasing
responsibilities for these smaller areas,

&



By early 1941, work was underway eliminating all plenic
grounds facilities and there were no serious local reper~
cussions concerning this 104/ Tables and benches were
transferred to the Wildeat Hills State Recreation Area south
of Gering and fireplaces were obliterated. However, when
summeyr came a flood of oral and written protests were re-
cedived concerning the re-cpening of this facility. 105/
Despite these formidable protests, the Service stood firm on
its declaration of poliecy and the piecnie grounds were not re-
opened,

Public sentiment remained dormant during the years of the
8econd World War, but in 1945 further protests arrived in the
Custodian's office. 106/ These were referred to the Washington
Office and the plenic grounds remained closed. There have been
no written protests or requests for its use since 1945, but
visitors still frequently ask when it will be opened again.

The lssue is now evidently dead so far as any official consid-
eration is concerned, and it is highly unlikely that there will
ever be another pienie or camping area set aside within the
Monument boundaries., The last six picnie tables left from

the site were transferred to the Bureau of Reclametion at

“ake Minatare, Nebraska on August 4, 1946, 107/

A& short ceremony was held on August 13, 1943 at head-
quarters to celebrate the cne hundredth anniversary of the
mass migrations along the Oregon Trail, Although travel was
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light due to war~time restrictions, a good crowd was on hand
to hear the talks given, Among the distinguished visitors
present was Dr, Howard R, Driggs, President of the American
Pioneer Tralls Association, Other asppropriate ceremonies were
held at the site of Fort Mitchell and Robidoux Pass., Custodian
Mattes read historical research papers at the dedication cere-
monies for new markers near Fort Mitchell and at the nameless
graves site in Robidoux Pass. Liberator bombers from the
Seottsbluff Air Force Base flew through Mitchell Pass during
the event at the Monument., Boy Scouts, soldiers, and members
of the loecal chapter of the Daughters of the American Revolu-
tion gave assistance. 108/

There were also several personnel changes during these
years, Mrs, Ethel L, Meinzer was appointed clerk-stenographer
on August 3, 1942 109/ to succeed John M, Burruss who had held
the position since August 2, 1940. 110/ Mrs. Meinzer had trans-
ferred here from Rocky Mountain National Park where she had
held a like position, Mhen Mrs., Meinzer was transferred back
to Rocky Homtaixi National Park, this position was filled
locally by Miss Louise Ridge on Jume 18, 1943. 111/ In addi~
tion, from 1941 to 1946 Custodian Mattes served as Acting
Historian for Fort Laramie Hational Monument doing special re-
search work relating to restoration of historie structures at
that area. This work, together with Jackson Hole research, led

to several publications appearing in the Pagific Northweat
Suarterly and the Annals of Myoming.
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The first permanent ranger at Scotts Bluff was A, Lynn
Coffin, who was transferred to the Momiment from Carlsbad
Caverns National Park, New Mexico, June 5, 1940, 112/ He
sssumed duties on July 5 after taking a month's leave. 113/
‘ He, in turn, was replaced by G. Lee Snedden, who arrived in
March 1943 from Rocky Mountain National Park. 114/

Visitation during these years dropped off from the high
of 105,151 in 1940 to 25,982 in 1944. 115/ Soldiers stationed
at the Scottsbluff Army Alr Base and at the Prisomer of War
camp and from other nearby installations were responsible
for keeping the annual visitation at a respectable level,

The visitation of the Monument through the calendar year 1959
has never reached the 1940 level.

During these critical years, Custodian Mattes also served
a8 Acting Regional Historian for the Region Two Office, making
frequent trips to Umsha to undertake speclal assignments. The
most important of these was his historical research nnd writing
that led to the defense of Jackson Hole Natlonal Monument at o
court case in Sheridan, Wyoming in 1944.

Three other activities of note which transpired during
these years were grazing of livestock on Monument lands, de-
velopment of exhibits for the palsontology wing, and the
establishment of a concessions operation in the lobby of the



During the war years, it became the general policy to
pernit grazing on National Park Servicd lands as part of the
war emergency. Mrs. B, M, Downer was granted a permit on
June 2,1943, renevable for three grazing seasons, or mu
September 30, 1945. 116/ This permit gave Mrs, Downer the
right to graze 20 head of cattle on about 300 acres of land
in the southwest section of the Monument in the vieinity of
the abandoned picniec grounds.

Another permit was issued to 8, K., Young to graze 20
head of cattle on about 20 secres of grasslands in the southern
portion of the Monument south of South Bluff. This permit was
limited to a short period of time between August 12 and
August 31, 1944, and was not renewable. 117/

The cases in the paleontology room were largely empty
until 1941, During that year Custodian Mattes and Ranger
Coffin improvised displays of the geology and fossil collee-
tions at the Monument, supplemented with fossils donated by
other museums, photos, maps, and artwork. The new exhibits
were unveiled September 1, 1941 when the American Society
of Vertebrate Paleontology met at the Monmht. 118/ These
exhibits remained intact for over 12 years.

A Miscellaneous Service Permit was issued to Charles

Downey of Downey's Midwest Studio, Scottsbluff, om July 1,
1940 %0 ".o.s.8011 pleture post-cards, colored photographs,
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Kodachroms trmpwomui and moving picture prints of views
pertaining to Scotts Bluff National Monument, and neighboring
Oregon Trail sites....." 119/ This permit was re-issued in
1941, 1942, 1943, and 1944, However, due to the shortage of
help and supplies, this operation ran only until May 1944 when
all operations ceased, Mr, Downey did not apply for renewal
of his permit in 1945. 120/ 41l sales items at the Monument
now are handled by the Oregon Trail Museum Association,

Merrill J, Mattes received notice in January 1946 of
his assignment to the position of Historian, National Park
Service, Branch of History, in the Director's Office then
located in Chicago, Illineis. 121/ However, Mr, Mattes did
not leave the Monument until March 23, s few days after the
arrival of Robert Roes Budlong (on March 19) from Appomettox
Court House National Historical Park, Virginia, who trans-
ferred to Scotts Bluff as the new Custodian. 122/



Custodian Budlong
Custedian Budlong, who had been with the National Park

Service for some time, had been custodian at Appomattox Court
House, Virginis and Fort Jefferson National Monument in the
bry Tortugas, in the Gulf of Mexico, before coming to Scotts
Bluff, He holds the distinction of being the first persen
to hold the title of Superintendent at Scotts Bluff, The
title of Custodian was changed to Superintendent at the end
of the 1948 calendar year.

Other personnel changes were made in the post-war peried.
During the war, Ranger G, Lee Sneddon entered the service as
an Ensign in the U, 8, Navy and was gone from the Monument
for about two years. 123/ To £111 this vacancy, Herbert W,
Marcellus was hired on a war time temporary basis to continue
until Mr, Sneddon's return to duty. 124/ ifr. Marcellus re-
signed February 21, 1946 when Mr. Sneddon's return was
imminent. 125/

When Ranger Sneddon transferred to Dinosawr National Monu-
ment on November 7, 1946 126/ Mr, David L, Hieb replaced him,
127/ Ranger Hieb remained at the Monument for enly about five

months, then being transferred to Fort Laramie National Monument

to assume duties as Custodian there, 128/ Forrest M, Benson,
Jr., succeeded Ranger Hieb on June 15, 1947, but resigned
Aprdl 15, 1948, 129/ and was succeeded by Luther 3, Winsor on
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July 31, 1948, 130/ Ranger Winsor, in turn, left for his new
assignment at Acadia National Park, Maine on May 26, 1951 131/
and was replaced by Coyt H, Hackett on June 12, 132/

At this time, an important addition was made to the
Oregon Trail Museum, The American Pioneer Trails Association,
of New York, very generously domated to the Government mis-
cellaneous sketches, paintings, and personal mementoes of the
late Willlam Henry Jackson, famous photographer and artist of
Western scenes., In order to display many of these paintings,
this Assoclation furnished the funds for the construction
of a "Williem Henry Jackson Memorial Wing" which was added
to the east end of the museum and administration building
(now called the Visitor Center).

The cost of the Memorial Wing was nearly $10,000, The
local chapter of the American Pioneer Tralls Association
raised §2,000 of this amount by popular subscription., The
Fullen Construction Company of Scottsbluff won the bid for
the work and started actual construction on June 29, 1948,
133/ Completion date was April 5, 1949.

Previous to this, a pre-dedication ceremony was ob~
served on July 1, 1947 when Dr, Driggs, President of the
Assoelation, turned the first spade of earth for the Wing., 134/
On August 2, 1948, a steel box containing various Jacksoniana
was embedded into one of the masonry walls of the addition. 135/



Formal dedication ceremonies were held on August 8, 1949 when
Director Newton B, Drury and Dr, Driggs were the main speakers.
136/ About 40 paintings and drawings are on display in this

wing.

| The Roush Construction Company, of Gering, constructed a
conerete floor in the basement under the Paleontology Wing
(now the Landmark Room) in April 1948, 137/ A second bedroom
and utility room were also added to Residence No, 2 occupied
by the Superintendent., 138/ J. B, Wilson of Scottebluff had
this contract. Also installed was an oil~burning furnace and
a 275-gallon tank for fuel oil. Up to this time, the residence
wes heated by a small oil space heater located in the living

room,

During the years 1949 through 1952 huge rock slides fre-
quently closed the Summit Road, In March 1949, for example,
a Teported 309.4 tons of rock blocksd the reed for many days.
Heavy /equipment and dynamite were used on several oceasions to
remove these obstructions. 139/ In June 1952, Superintendent
_Budlong deseribed the situation:

"essesthe road suffered from a constant succession of
heavy slides, and finally this resulted in a dangerous
condition with overhangs above the road., We closed the
road and called for expert opinion, Regional and BPR
engineers and an NPS geologist came to the area, in~
spected the trouble spot, and were unanimous in pro-
nouncing it unsafe., We kept the road closed, pending
a solution to the problem (funds); it 1 still closed
at this writing due to no solution to the problem (no
mnd') eoe 20W



The road remained closed from June 26 to August 21 and had been
closed during most of May end June, Many visitors to the ares
were disappointed that they were unable to drive over this 1.6
mile of road and it is reported that complaints were numerous,

Besides the maintenance work being done on the Summit
Road during these years, much stabilization was mol started
on traile and other places on the bluff subject to ercsion.
In 1953, the Scout Trail up the east face of the bluff was
officially closed to public use and signs placed notifying
vuit.m;a. It is sald that in certain sections of this trail,
the sides facing away from the bluff were above a person's
‘head. This was filled in and seeded, 141/

The system of foot trails on the summit which lead from
the parking area to the north section were paved by Berggren
& Sons of Scottsbluff in 1953, 142/ Before this only paths
wvere used and these were becoming greatly eroded. Other
minor paving was done here at various times during the 1950's.

Two non~conforming uses of Monument lands were stopped
in 1949 and 1951 after years of misuse and abuse. These were
the Gering Golf Course, located north and northwest of Dome
Roek, and a rifle range used by the local National Guard unit
and personnel from the Scottsbluff Prisoner of Wer camp during
the latter part of World var II.



It is not known exsctly when the Gering Golf Club started
to use the area near Dome Rock but records seem to indicate
that it was in use as early as 1928, When Associate Director
A, E, Demaray visited the area in early 1935, he was somewhat
surprised to find this activity in the Nomument, and explained
the situstion in a memorandum to the Director. Mr. Demeray
explatned that:

"vesssThe oxisting and partly completed club house is

to be demolished and the site cleaned up., It was also

understood that if and when the Monument lands now
ocoupled by the Golf Course are needed for Monument
purposes, the Government would have a right to oblit~

m?: the present greens and end the present golfing

Since the course had been in use for some years previous
to this, it was decided that the Govermment would provide a
durable and finished club house for the organization and
allow them to continue to use these facilities by permit, By
1950 use of this course had dropped off to almost nothing and
Superintendent Budlong decided that the time was ripe for end-
ing all use of the course, 144/ The last permit issued the
club was signed in late 1949 and stipulated that:s "This permit
will expire December 31, 1950, and may not thersafter be re-
newed", 145/ There were evidently no objections raised by
menbers of the club and the shelter house was torn down and

the greens covered and seeded the following year. 146/

The rifle range, on the other hand, had been in use
since 1925 vwhen Company E, 134th Infantry Division, located at
Seottsbluff, had inquired about such use of Monument lands.
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Custodian Mathers had allowed this unit to set up a small range
just south of present headquarters at that time, but in 1931
this unit requested a formal permit allowing them to continue
to use the area, Custodian Mathers received a letter from the
Washington Office stating that such use was contrary to poliey,
but that he might issue a permit to the unit, 147/ After this,
permits were issued for periods of three years until 1948 when
it was decided that further use would only mar and deface this
area, Associate Dirvector Demaray notified the War Department
of this decision, 148/ and no further use of Monument lands
was permitted the Guard unit. While this decision was eon~
tested verbally by the unit all activities ceased on the old
range and all equipment and property was removed by them in
the spring of 1949, 1497 This range was at first located on
the south side of the trans-Monument highway, near headquarters,
but was later moved to the south side of Dome Rock, Just prior
to the war years, it was again moved to the north side of Dome
Rock, or near the golf cowrse. Use was very sporadic during
the war years while the unit was away, but the Army Air Base
near Scottsbluff made some use of it as did the Scottsbluff
Prisoner of War camp. Private or local gun clubs never used
the area officially.

The State of Nebraska, having received a special use
permit in 1953 to construet and maintain a highway through the
Monument, undertook the realignment and paving of the original
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road, State Highway 86, constructed from 1937 to 1940, and
referred to previously. The work within the Monument
boundaries started on July 23, 1953 and ended on October 29
of that year. 150/ In 1954 and 1955, the section from the
east boundary of the Monument to Gering was paved, come
piiem conerete pavement from a point just beyond the west
boundary of the Monument to Gering. When the original
special use permit expired in 1956, another one was drawn
up and signed by Acting Regional Director George ¥, Baggley
and L, N, Ress, State Engineer, on February 20, 1956, This
permit will expire on July 31, 1975, but can be terminated
by the Director at his discretion. 151/ It is interesting
to note here that the National Park Service did not surrender
any of its legal authority upon the 80-foot right of way.

Superintendent Budlong was transferred to the same
position at Lava Beds National Monument, California, and
left Seotts Bluff on July 19, 1954. 152/ Ranger Coyt H. |
Hackett was Acting Superintendent until the arrival of Frank
H, Anderson, the new Superintendent.



superintendent Anderson
Superintendent Frank H, Anderson's assignment to Scotts
Bluff was effective September 5, 1954. A native of New Jersey,
he had been stationed in Yellowstone National Park for about
24, years previous to this.

It was during the summer and fall of 1954 that the

Frontier Broadcasting Company of Cheyenne, Wyoming began

testing facilities on the summit of the bluff, When these
tests proved satisfactory the company applied for a permit
to construct a television station and tower on the summit:

"KFBC-TV
Cheyenne, Wyoming

September 18, 1954
Mr. Conrad Wirth, Director
National Park Service
Department of the Interior

Washington, D, C,

Dear Sir:

This is to make application for permission to locate
the television station, Construction Permit for which
was recently granted by FCC, within the boundaries of
Seotts Bluff Nationsl Monument,

Our engineering studies have shown conclusively that
this is the only feasible location for the station,
to serve the entire community, known generally as
the valley (Valley of the North Platte River, in the
vicinity of Scottsbluff, Nebraska). :

Encloged are various maps, narrative statements,
whicll:';ul disclose how these conclusions were
reac .

The population in the area to be served, approximately
54,000 people, are presently without TV service, and
the proposed station would appear to be their only
chance in the foreseeable future to get service.

L&
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We would appreciate an early decision, so that
construction can be commenced in time to be com-
pleted before bad winter weather sets in,

" Any sdditionsl information requested will be
furnished immediately,

Very truly yours,

Frontier Broadeasting Company
By /s/ Wm. C, Grove

Wm, C, Grove, Treas. 153/

This formal request stapted a storm of controversy which
raged until the late spring of 1955. Probably every person
in the North Flatte Valley discussed the merits of such an
undertaking., Resclutions were passed by nearly every im-
portant organization in the Gering-Scottsbluff area, either
supporting the project or opposing 1t. 154/ That the advent
of TV in the valley was inevitable or that it would be a great
benefit to viewers and business was never questioned, The
igsue revolved around the use of Monuwent lands for such a

non-conforming structure.

Director Wirth answered this initial request on October 1
denying it and advising location of the station and tower at
another location. 155/ National Park Service policy was oute
lined and reference was made to the establishment Act of 1916,
Other letters and requests were received from Senators, Con-
gregsmen, and other officials. Mr. Wirth answered all of
these, explaining Service policy on such matters. 156/

However, dueto the strenuous efforts of the Frontier
Broadeasting Company, with help from all of VWyoming's



delegation to Congress and the Governor, as well as from
many loeal citizens and various service and eivic clubs

and other groups, it vas decided to hold a public hearing
in Washington on January 10, 1955, OSuperintendent Anderson
attended this meeting as did representatives of the broad-
 easting company, several local citizens and business men
(all of whom favored the project), Congressman A, L.
Miller, and VWyoming's delegates.

During December 1954, field tests had been nudu by
local television sales concerns cooperating with Ranger
Hackett, These tests were conclusive in showing that an
alternate site, some 10 miles north of Scottsbluff, ad-
jacent to State Highway 87, was much superior te the pro-
posed Monument site. 157/ The results of these tests were
significant in the meeting of January 10 and the National
Park Service used them as an aid in again refusing the
application,

Dirvector Wirth denied the application for a second time
on February &, 1955. 158/ Senator 0'Mahoney appealed this
decision to the Department of the Interior, but the Depart-
ment upheld the Director's decision, 159/ and the issue was
eclosed, The Frontier Broadecasting Company then accepted
the alternate site as the best place for their station and

construction began there in May. 160/
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When Ranger Hackett was transferred to the position of
NMuseum Curator at Jefferson Natiomal Expansion Memerial, St.
Louis, Missouri im Mareh 1956, it wae decided to relnstate
the title of Historien for the single permsnent uniformed
employee for the Monument under the Superintendent., Ili
"Dan" Potts was selected for this position from a list of
Civil Service eligibvles 161/ and assumed his duties on June
11, 1956, 162/ He remained at the Monument for little more
than one yeur before resigning to accept a teaching position.

On June 20, 1956, the Oregon Trall Museum Asscclation
was organized at Seotts Bluff., This association iz a co-
opersting organization with the National Park Service and
offere various publicatioms, post cards, cclor slides, and
other materials for sale in the Visitor Center lebby. It is
non-profit and uses its funds to assiet the CGovernment with
ite library facilities, interpretive program, land sequisition,
and other education activities at the avea. It wus incorpor-
ated in March 1959. 163/

Before this time, the locky Mountain Nature Association
had operated a subsidiary sales counter in the lobby. These
sales started in June 1943, 164/ and continued until Scotts
Bluff organived its own association. The first sales item
at the Monument was the 16-psge information bulletin written
by Custodian Mattes in 1941. 8ales started about the first
of May in 1942, 165/ When this booklet wae out of print,
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about 1955, Mr., Mattes completed a historical handbook which
was printed in December 1958 and went on sale almost lmmed-
jately. This handbook is the only official sales publication
whieh deals with the lMonument.

 On August 9, 1956, Chimney Rock was designated a National
Historie Site by the Secretary of the Interior. This famous
Oregon Trail landmark 1s located about 23 miles east of Scotts
Bluff near the town of Bayard. While the State of Nebraska
owng the 83-acre site, it is jointly administered by the town
of Bayard, the Nebraska State Historical Soclety, and the
National Park Service., The Superintendent of Scotts Bluff
National Monument handles inquiries concerning the site and
provides adﬂu on various interpretive matters. The
National Park Service prints the informational folder for

the site, prepared by Park Historian Harris, in 1957, The
8ite is undeveloped, but plans eall for a small roadside
pienic avea to be built in 1961, The rock itself is about

14 miles south of State Highway 86.

MISSION 66
Another "era of development” for the Monument began with
the advent of MISSION 66, a ten-year conservation program
for the Nationmal Park System which proposes to develop and
staff these parks so as to permit their wisest possible use,
maximum enjoyment for those who use them, and maximum
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preservation of the scenic, scientifie, and historical re~
sources which gaw them distinetion, The program commenced
July 1, 195

anndversary of the establishment of the National Park Service,

and is to be completed in 1966, the [iftieth



Superintendent Henneberger
. When Historian Potts left on July 28, 1957 166/, this writer

was transferred to Scotts Bluff from Mount Rushmore National
Memorial, South Dakota. Late that same year, Superintendent
Anderson was notified of his promotion and transfer to Harpers
Ferry National Monument, West Virginia. He left on January 25,
1958 167/ and was succeeded by John W. Henneberger 168/ who had
been stationed at Olympic National Park, Washington. On March
23, 1958, clerk-stenographer Louise Hidge was promoted to the
position of Administrative Assistant at the Monument.

The planning of the MISSION 66 program for Scotts Bluff
had been accomplished during Superintendent Anderson's uum
between 1955 and 1957. Construction activities, land ac-
quisition, and boundary revision proposals were carried out
during Superintendent Henneberger's tenure of office with the
exception of the electrification and improvement of the water
supply system which was completed by 1. H., Peters of Alliance,
Nebraska on September 23, 1957.

A "package" development in 1958 included construction of
a second residence at headquarters, a two-stall addition to the
utility building, and a new 460-seat amphitheater, or "campfire
cirele”, for summer evening interpretive programs. This is
located directly behind the visitor center. Also included wus
& conerete vault in the basement of the visitor center for
protecting valuable Jackson material and other artifacts and

T



items, Other improvements included in the package contract were
air conditioning of the visitor center, construction of wood
fences, terraces and walks, and bituminous surfacing of drive~
waye at headquarters.

In 1958, Harry F. Berggren & Sons was awarded the contract
for paving the trail from headquarters to Scotts Spring and from
the parking lane in Mitchell Pass to the Jackson campsite., Under
this contract, existing summit trails were improved and a new one
constructed from the parking area there to a "south summit"

overlook.,

Wayside exhibits and interpretive signs were installed along
the newly constructed trails and at other ln'; >po.1m or. the
sunndt .during the sumer of 1959, These included t’m Hiram
Scott memorial marker, two routed aluminum signs and nine rou\tod
wood signs, MISSION 66 also called for the seeding and planting
of grass, trees, and shrubs at headquarters and this project was

completed in 1959 by day labor. 169/

The Andresen Construction Company of Scottsbluffl was tiu
general contractor for the majority of these construetion pro-
jects and his work continued from April 4, 1958 170/ to Oectober
31, 1958, 171/ Total cost of the MISSION 66 program was
$92,466.40. (This figure does not inelude cost of installation
of new exhibits and cases in the Oregon Trail Room,)
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The revision of exhibits in the visitor center was started
in 1960, Exhibits were completed in the fall of that year in
the History Wing and the name of the wing was changed officially
to the "Oregon Trail Room"., The name of the "Paleo” or "Prehis-
tory Wing" was also changed to the "Landmark Room" and completion
of exhibit revision is scheduled for the winter of 1960-61,

: Conservation programs under MISSION 66 at the Monument in-
cluded soil and moisture work for erosion control on the summit
and at Mitchell Pass. Visitor use is heavy at these two places
and causes much "human" erosion., Although removal of the Bureau
of Reclamation power line through Mitchell Pass is a part of
MISSION 66, 1t is not anticipated that this will be completed
until near the end of the program. 172/

The National Park Service is responsible for preserving
the Oregon ‘Trail ruts and mainteining the natural setting con-
sistent with the period of Trail use. To enable the Service to
do this, Monument boundaries should include sufficient lands
to insure the protection or restoration of the scenic integrity
of the prineipal bluffs and adjacent landmarks such as Dome
Rock, the Badlands, and the North Platte River. To accomplish
this objective, a boundary revision study, which had been going
on for many years, was completed in 1959, This work was done
by the Boundary Studies Section of the Division of Reereation
Resource Planning in the Region Two Office. 4 bill, introduced
by Congressman Don MeGinley of the Fourth Nebraska Congressional
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District on March 2, 1960, would have put these boundary pro-
posals into law, However, some controversy concerning a section
of this bill which would have changed the designation of the
National Monument to a National Historic Site, caused delay

and no action was taken., The bill, minus the designation change,
will have to be reintroduced in the €7th Congress, before these

boundary changes can take place,

Two important land acquisitions were made during this
period, however, and both are in line with the proposal. The
first of these was the purchase of 27.43 acres of land within
the proclaimed boundary in the northeast section of the Monument
known as the "badlands", Title te this land was received on
April 10, 1959, when $1,500,00 was paid to Mrs. Sadie lise,

owner. 173/

The second purchase conedrned about 20 acres of land com-
prising the east half of Dome Rock. The Oregon Trall Museum
Assoclation bought this historically important acreage from
Me., and Mrs. Charles Cering for $2,000,00 on June 3, 1959. 174/
This land will become part of the Monument wha_n the boundary
revision proposals are placed inte law. The assoedation will
donate the land to the Federal Government.

Such a boundary revision would be the fourth since the
original proclametion of December 12, 1919. Others were:
Executive Order of May 9, 1924 175/, eliminating 160 acres
from the reservation located in the southeast section; the



Proclamation of June 1, 1932 126/, adding certain lands along
the east boundary of the Monument, including Scotts Spring;
and the Proclamation of March 29, 1940 177/, adding certain
lands along the north Boundary of the Monument, ineluding
certain islands in the North Platte River.

A1l of these revisions, deletions, additions, and pur-
chases have changed the total acreage of the Monument several
tives, dn February 1, 1960, Scotts Bluff National Monument
contained a total of 3,451.52 acres of land, 2,198.78 of
which ave federally owned. 178/

Substantial progress has been made on the staffing and
fiscal portions of the MISSION 66 program of the Monument.
During the 1956-1960 period the Monument staff was in-
ereased with the creation of a permanent Foreman I « Caretaker
position. Bdward Wolf who had held a similar position on a
temporary basis was reassigned to the full-time position on
Avgust 25, 1958, Adequate appropriations were given the
Monument to maintain the facilities that were comstructed so
that the Monument has an adequate staff and sufficient funds
to properly protect, interpret, and maintain the Monuuent
land and facilities. MISSION 66 further proposes to add to
the staff by inereasing the seasonal ranger and ranger-
historian personnel and by adding a permanent park ranger
and ¢lerk-stenographer to the existing staff,

) A



All the uncompleted phases of the MISSION 66 program for
Seotts Bluff National Monument except the removal of the
Bureau of Heclamation transmission line through Mitchell Pass
are expected to be accomplished by 1966,



AERENDIX A
SCOTTS BLUFF NATIONAL MONUMENT
NEBRASKA
® % % 8
BY THE PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
A PROCLAMATION
Whereas Scotts Bluff is the highest known point within the State
of Nebraska, affording a view for miles over the swrrounding country;
Whereas Mitchell Pass, lying to the south of said bluff, was tra-
versed by the old Oregon Trail and said bluff was used as a landmfk
and rendezvous by thousands of immigrants and frontiersmen travelling
said trail en route for new homes in the Northwest; and

Wheress, in view of these facts, as well as of the selentifie
interest the region possesses from a geologlcal standpoint, it appears
that the publie interests will be promoted by reserving the lands upon
which the said bluff and the sald pass are located as a nationsl

monunent:

Now, Therefore, I, Woodrow Wilson, President of the United Statea
of America, by virtue of the power and authority in me vested by sec~
tion two of the Act of Congress entitled "An Act for the preservation
of American antiquities,” approved June &, 1906 (34 Stat., 225), do
prcclam that there are hereby reserved from all forms of appropriation
under the publie-land laws, and set apart as the Scotts Bluff National
Monument, the following described lands, to-wit: the northwest quarter,
north half of the southwsst quarter, southeast quarter of the southwest

i



quarter, southwest quarter of the northeast quarter and the west half
of the southeast quarter of section four, township twenty-one north,
range fifty~five weat; lots ome, two and three, south half of the
northeast quarter, north half of the southeast quarter, southeast

. Quarter of the northwest guarter and the northeast quarter of the

southwest quarter of section five, township twenty-one north, range
fifty-five west; the northeast quarter of section nine, township
twenty-one north, range fifty-five west; lote six and seven, section
tuenty~-seven, township twenty-two north, range fifty-five west; lot
four, southeast quarter, and south half of the southwest quarter of
section tuenty-eight, said township and range; the southeast quarter of
the southeast quarter of section twenty-nine, said township and range;
the east balf of the east half of section thirty-two, said township
and range; and the north half, southwest quarter, north half of the
southeast quarter and the southwest quarter of the southeast quarter
of section thirty-three, township twanty-two north, range fifty-five,
all west of the Sixth Prineipal Meridian in the State of Nebraska, and
that the boundaries of the said Scotts Bluff National Momument are as
shown on the diagram hereto attached and made a part hereof,

Warning is hereby given to all unauthorized persons not to
appropriate or injure any natural feature of this Monument, or to
occeupy, expleit, settle or locate upen w of the lands reserved by
this proclamation.

The Director of the Hational Park Service, under the direction
of the Secretary of the Interior, shall have the supervision,
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munagement and control of this Monument, as provided in the Aet of
Congress entitled "An Act to establish a National Park Service and
for other purposes,” approved August 25, 1916 (39 Stat., 535).

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the
seal of the United States to be affixed.

Done in the District of Columbia This 12th day of December in
the year of owr Lord one thousand nine hundred and nineteen,
and of the Independence of the United States of America the
one one hundred and forth-fourth.

(SEAL)

WOODHOW WILSON

By the President:
Hobert Lansing,
Secretary of State.



1936
1937
1938
1939
1940
1941
1942
1943
1944,
1945
1946
1947

63,257
63,585
90,090
90,476
105,151
73,955
39,631
34,110
25,982
33,4490
56,367
48,900

1948
1949
1950
1951
1952
1953
1954
1955
1956
1957
1958
1959

50,220
57,069
60,344
56,542
47,110
50,706
57,672
54,4937
73,700
79,230
82,162
95,814
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Nane

Willle (Will) M. Maupin
Albert N, Mathers

Dr. Harold J. Cook

Dr, Harold J. Cook

Dr, Harold J. Cook
Charles E, Randels
Merrill J. Mhttﬁu
David de Lancey Condon
Charles (Charley) E. Humberger
Robert R, Budlong
Robert R, Budlong
Frank H, Anderson

John W. Hemneberger

Cugtodian
Custodian
Aeting Custodian
Custodian

Aeting Custodian
Aeting Custodian
Custodian

Aeting Custodian
Acting Custodian
Custodian
Superintendent
Superintendent
Superintendent

Peried of Servige
4~10-20 o T=1-24
k=25 0 6=15-34

‘ 6~15-34 to 12-20-34
12-20~34 to 4-11-35

4=11=35 to 7-15-35
T=15=35 to 6-25-38
6-25-38 to 3-19-46
P=15-38 to 11-1=38
11=1-38 to 6~16-39
31946 to 1=1-49
1=1-49 to 7-19-54
9=6=54 to 1-25-58
2-2-58 to

gl



Hape
Dy, Hareld J. Cook

Merrill J, Mattes

Temporary Fanger
Junior Historian

Charles (Charley) E, Humberger  Temporary Ranger

A, Lynn Coffin '
G, Lee Suddcm »
Herbert W, Marcellus *#
David L, Hieb
Forrest M, Bensen, Jr.
Luther &, Winsor
Coyt H. Hackett
E14 (Dan) Potts
Earl R, Harris

Park Ranger
Fark Ranger
Park Renger
Park Ranger

Park Ranger
Park Ranger

Supervisory Park Ranger
Park Historian
Park Historian

Peried of Service

51634 to 6-15-35
10-1-35 to 6-25-38
7 «5-38 to 12-12~39
6540 o 3-b~43

3=5-43 to 11-7-46
QTwdly, t0 2-21=4H
11=15-46 to 5-1-47

6~15-47
T=31=48
6-12-51
6~11-56

7=29=57

* Ranger Sneddon was absent on military furlough from 6-25-44
##* Herbert W, Marcellus was hired on a VWar Service Indefinite Appointment.

- lame
John M, Burruss
Ethel L. Meinzer
Louise Ridge

Edward Wolf

Junior Clerk-Stenographer
Junior Clerk-Stenographer
Administrative Assistant

ladntenance Personnel

Foreman I -~ Caretaker

to 4-15-48
to 5-26-51

to 3~12-56
to 7-28-57
to '
t0 4~22-46

8~2-40 to 1-28~42
8=3-42 to 5~15-43
6-18-43 to

8-25-58 to
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ment of the Interior, National
Education, Berkeley, California, 1934.

Dunbar, Seymour, mex.nmnmm. four volumes, The Bobbs-
Merrill Company, Indianapolis, 1915,

Brand, Donald D., Th igotts Bluff, Nebraska,
Park Service, Field Divieion of

by ne 6% Th JE3 Oy an X @ONLO Lo (it SO0 L &
| 2l lMopument, U. 8. Department of the Interior, Natiomal
Park service, rield Division of Eduecation, Berkeley, California, 1934.

Nebraska Press

Faris, John, ed, and comp., ¥he 8 ¥he in NeDrs
“'““ﬁm, Lineoln, Nebraska, 1940,

Government Publications and Reports

Green, Thomas Lightfoot, "Seotts Bluff, Fort John", X
Vol, XIX, July, 1938. Nakzeaks iistary

Hackett, Coyt H., "Tourist Traffic Mounts at Scotts Bluff HMonument " ,
article in the Gering Courier, July 15, 1955

Harris, Barl R., "1812, First Christmas on the North
Prairie...Hills Bluffy'", article in Jgottsbluff
December 25, 1958,

Harris, Earl R,

Platte: ‘Bare

e LE

Proclaimed 38 Years Ago Today", article in
erald, December 12, 1957,

Harris, Barl R., "Administrative History of Scotts Bluff National Monu-
ment", series of six articles appearing in the Seottabluff Daily
Star-Herald and the Gering Courier, November 8, 1959 - January 3, 1960.

M‘%“.’ Merrill Jo’ "Hiram s%t*' Pur b‘d‘r"' W-W’ Vol.
xxvi, July, 1945.

Mattes, Merrill J., "Fort Mitchell, Scotts Bluff, Nebraska Territory",
Hebrasks History, Veol. XXXIII, March, 1952.

Mattes, Merrill J., "Robidoux's Trading Post at 'Scott's Bluffs' and
the Californis Gold Rush”, lebrasks History, Vol., XXX, June, 1949.

Mattes, Merrill J., "Scotts Bluff National Monument, Nebras "y Hational
Park Service Information Bulletin, U, 3. Government Printing Office,
Washington, D. C. 1942, ;

Mattes, Merrill J., "Scotts Bluff is Venerable Landmark for Trails West",
article in Sgottsbluff Dally Star-lepald, August 2, 1950.

"Monument




ﬁuttu Merrill J,, "Scotts Bluff Natiomal Honument, !l.hulh" National
Park Service Histordcal Handbook, Series No, 28, U, 8. Government
Printing Office, Washington, D. C., 1958,

Newspapers:
mm 1935-1-;?202;%0
"a1d, 1914-1960.

0fficial memorands, correspondence, and reports, 1933-»1960, in Scotts
Bluff htntiml Mummnt files.

Official mundn correspondence, and reports, 1914~1933, on three
microfilms in 'Bho Scotts Bluff National Monument files, obtained from
the Nationmal Archives, Washington, D, C.

m"m’ Phnip A‘h‘m. .do ABepvery & 81 ’ 347 s
Harratives, Charles Seribner's Sons, ﬁow '.!ork, 1935.

Telson, Hillory A., comp., "National Park Service orrzeuh U, 8, De~
mnnt of the Interior, w.wm Park Service, Haahinztan, b, €.,
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guild:r, Mr. T, C, Reeder, of Gering, was not paid until after
uly 1.

Correspondence between Mathers and the Washington Office, 1926.
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R.pzrt.o of Burrell to the Washington Office, July-September,
1926,

"Saddle Rock" is also referred to by a variety of other names,

such as, motorecycle rock, grandpa's toes, steamboat rock, ete.

Some of these appellations also refer to other bluffs and rocks
in the North Platte Valley outside of the Monument, and should

not be confused with them.

Burney to Director, May 16, 1927,

Report, Burrell to Director, June 18, 1927,

Newspaper Articles, May and June, 1927,

Letters and Reports, Mathers to Washington Office, 19271928,
Memorandum, Washington Office to Mathers, 1930.

Report, National Conference on State Parks, 1928,
Resolution, Yoder, VWyoming, Chamber of Commerce, to Director,
June 24, 1924. It should be noted that many people did, and
gtill do, spell Scotts Bluff as one word instead of two. This
confusion is due to the spelling of the city of Scottsbluff.

Other doubtful usage and spelling in this resolution are that
of the Yoder Chamber and not this writer. '

Newspaper editorials and articles appearing at various times,
1925-1932,

d article, June 18, 1931,

"Auto Road to Top of Bluff Assured,” article in fgottsbluff
Daily Star-lierald, September 13, 1932.

Log,. cit.

Shoemaker, Clifford, Civil Works Administration Final Report,
Bureau of Public Roads, Scotts Bluff National Monument, April
26, 1934, Many stories circulate concerning the foot tunnel
through "saddle rock", The author was told by one woman that
she had walked through this tunnel in 1916, Others state that
the boy scouts built the tunnel, None of these is true. The
foot tunnel was constructed by private contractor during the
first two weeks of Jume, 1933, Articles in loeal newspapers
and Momment records substantiate this.
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70,

74

Loga oit.

Report, Franeis D, Laloue to the Dirvector, April 27, 1934.
Report, Francis D. LaNoue, gp, git.

Report, Harold J. Cook to the Director, April 26, 1934.

t:oti« of Appointment, Guy Numbers te Harold J. Cook, May 16,
934, :

Letter, Cook to R, M, Holmes, June 25, 1934.

- Faris, gp..glb., p. 1,061,

Various correspondence between Cook and the Washington Office,
November 1934 through April 1935.

Although this notice is dated April 24, 1935, it was not re-
coived at the Monument office until April 30, at which time
Cook took office.

The first business office was located on 10th Street in Gering
in a building owmed by Mrs. Ella Goist., This was moved in early
1935 to the Gering Courder bullding. In early 1938, the office
was moved to the Monument, to the Ranger's residence at first,
then to the museum.

Notification of acceptance of econtract, Cook to Fullen, Febr-
vary 15, 1935. ,

Telegram, Cook to Cammever, July 9, 1935. Telegram, Ickes to
Randels, July 15, 1935: "You are directed to assume charge im-
“du“ly-....ﬂnd will also act as Cuﬂtedh.n."

Telegram, Demaray to Mattes, October 3, 1935:
e eeeoiingineer Charles els is to continue as Acting
Custodian Scottabluff /sig/ during construction period
stop Acecordingly you are to work under Randels super-
vision until further notice.....”

Mr, Mattes was certified by Civil Service Commission for the
position of Custodian, Scotts Bluff National Monument. (Tele-
gram, Verne E, Chatelain to Mattes, August 7, 1935.) Mr.
Randels, temporarily Acting Custodian, requested Acting Dir-
ector A, &, Demaray to appoint him as Acting Custodian until
all work stopped (letter, Randels to Demaray, September 25,
1935), Mr. Mattes arrived at Scotts Bluff on October 1, and
notified the Director of his arrival aend that he had assumed
the duties of Custodian (letter, Mattes to the Director, Oect-
ober 2, 1935). On October 3, Mr. Mattes received the telegram
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72.

73
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75,
76,

80,
81,

quoted in 69 above, and formal notification from Acting
Director Demaray on October 14, that M, Randels was ap~
pointed Acting Custodian during the construction period and
that, ".....You are hereby designated as Historian of Scotte
Bluff National Monument and you are to work under Acting
Custodian Rendels' “”Wi‘i@n until further notice,....”"
(Letter, Demaray to Mattes, October 14, 1935.)

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, November 1936,

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, May 1936, Actual work
got under way on May 23 and lasted until August 25.

Work started on June &, 1937 and was finished by early Septem-
ber, The bid was for ‘30.504.91. Letter, Thomas J. Allen, Jr.,
Superintendent, Rocky Mountain National Park, to the Director,
June 7, 1937,

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, July 1936,

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, September 1937,

sua’;odmu Monthly Narrative Reports, July 1936 through June
938,

Public Travel Tabulation by Monthl' File Ne, A3015,

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, April 1939,
This wing has been called by various names since its completion,
Such names as "Pre~history Wing, the North Wing, Geology Wing,
and the Paleo Room," have been used. In early 1960, the desig-
nation "Landmark Room" was officlally approved and will be thus
applied until any later changes.

Custodian's Monthly Harrative Reports, April and May 1938,

Letter, Acting Associate Director R, 0, Jennings, to Mattes,
June 22, 1938,

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, June 1939,

?gg;odian'a Monthly Narrative Reports, June 1938 through June

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, August 1938. Mr. Jackson
drove the stake at the site of his 1866 encampment on August 23,

Letter, Roswell P; Aingier, Associate Dean, Yale University
Graduate School, to Mattes, April 22, 1938,
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Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, September, 1938, Mr.
Mattes left Scotts Bluff on September 15, 1938,

Log, oit.

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, November 1938, Mr, Mattes
returned to the Momument and relieved Mr. Humberger June 16,1939.

Correspondence, Washington Office to Humberger, dated as follows:
June 18, 1938; October 21, 1938; Janwary 9, 1939; April 19, 1939;
and May 17, 1939.

Cm?od:um'a and Superintendent's Monthly Narrative Reports, 1939
to 1951,

Custodian's Monthly Narretive Keport, July 1939, The first derby
was held on Sunday, July 30, 1939.

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, July 1940, Held on July 21,

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, August 1941, Held on
August 3,

Supor:‘}mndmt'n Monthly Narrative Report, July, 1951, Held on
July 15, :

Custodisn's Monthly Narrative Report, July 1947.

Custodian's Momthly Narrative Report for 3epteumber 1939 indicates
that all work was completed on September 29. This work was under
the supervision of the Bureau of Public Reuds and was done by the
Orshek and Christiansen Company of Fremont, Nebraska, Total cost
was @14.&39.330

Memorandum, dattes to G&nﬁ.ﬂlﬁ, a‘p“m? 5 1939.
Memorandum, Regional Director Allen to the Director, June 30, 1939,

Memorandum, Acting Director John R, White te Regional Director
Allen, August 4, 1939.

This news release wasprinted in most newspapers in the vieinity.

Memorandum, Regional Director Allen to Superintendent Canfield,
Jeptember 19, 1939, News release, April 5, 1940. It is not con-
trary to federal policy to provide pienic facilities for local use
in national historical areas,

Hemorandum, Custodian Mattes to Canfield, May 6, 1940.

Memorandum, Acting Regional Director John S, MeLaughlia to Budlong,
hugust 20, 1951,
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17.
118,

19.
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Memorandum, Superintendent Canfield to Regional Director Allen,
Janusry 1, 1941,

Among the individuals and loecal organiszations make formal pro-
tests were: Kiwanis International, Scottsbluff; International
Lions Club, Gering; Senator Hugh Butler; Congressman Harry P.
Coffee; Senator George W. Worris; and the Senior Class of the
Bayardy Nebraska high school.

Memorandum, Custodian Mattes to Superintendent Canfield, Decem-
ber 10, 1945,

Memorandum, Superintendent Canfield to Custodian Mattes, June 17,

1946, Undated note in Secotts Bluff file: "6 pilenic tables were
transferred on August 4, 1946 from the old pienie area to Bureau
of Reclamation at Lake Minatave, Nebraska'. :
Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, August, 1943.

Telegram, Acting Regional Director to Superintendent Cenfield,
May 25, 1942, Notice of Employment, August 3, 1942.

Notice of Temporary EBmployment for Emergency Work in the Field,
AW‘ 2’ 1940, '

Hotice of Employment, June 18, 1943.

Letter, Mre. J, Atwood Maulding, Director of Persommel, to Coffin,
June 5, 1940,

l:;:grwdm, Custodian Mattes to Superintendent Canfield, July 6,

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, March 1943.

Grazing permit, signed by Mrs. B. M. Downer and Merrill J. Mattes,
M 26’ 1943,

Grazing permit, signed by 8. R, Young and Merrill J. Mattes,
August 8, 1944.

Article, gcottabluff Dally Star-flerald, September 2, 1941,
Miscellaneous Service Permit, signed by C. D. Downey and Aeting
Custodian A. Lynn Coffin, October 1, 1940. A previous agree-
ment had been signed by Downey and Mattes on June 17, 1940,

Memorandum, Mattes to Regiomal Divector, May 9, 1945.
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Notice of Promotion and Heassignment, undated,
Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, March 1946,
mr Sneddon wae absent from June 25, 1944 until April 22,

L]

Ranger Marcellus entered on duty September 7, 1944: Notice of
Temporary Appointment, September 7, 1944.

Memorandum, Marcellus to Superintendent Canfield, February 14,
1946, resigning position effective February 21, 1946.

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Heport, November 1946.
Loc. oit.

g.u;todhn'l Monthly Narrative Report, May 1947. Mr. Hieb left
Te

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, April 1948,

Telegram, Budlong to Superintendent, Rocky Mountain National
P‘l’k. August 2. 1948

Custodian's Monthly Narrative Report, May 1951,

Memorandum, Budlong to Superintendent, Rocky Mountain National
Park, June 19, 1951.

Tele Budlong to Regiomal Director, June 22, 1948, The bid
was 9, ‘0000

Memorandum, Budlong to Superintendent, Roeky Mountain National
Park, July 10, 1947. :

Hemorandum for the File, Budlong, August 3, 1948,
Superintendent's Monthly Narrative Report, August 1949.
Custodian's Monthly Narrative Reports, April and May 1948,
Memorandum, Superintendent Canfield to Budlong, June 6, 1949,

?;grinundmt'a Monthly Narrative Reports, March and April

?uogution from Superintendent's Monthly Narrative Report, July
9524

Superintendent's Monthly Narrative Report, July 1953,
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Superintendent's Monthly Narrative Heport, Jume 1953,
Memorandum for the Divector, Demaray to Director, July 4, 1935.

. Memorandum, Budlong to Canfield, October 11, 1950,

Special Use Permit, undated but issued in late 1949, signed by

~ Superintendent Budlong and Harry Thurman, Secretary~Treasurer of

the club.
Memorandum, Budlong to Superintendent Canfleld, April 23, 1951,
letter, Acting Director Cammerer to Mathers, May 7, 1931,

Letter, Associate Director Demaray to Chief of Engineers, War De-
partment, August 26, 1948,

Memorandum, Budlong to the Superintendent, Rocky Mountain National
P@k. MQV 23’ 1949,

Superintendent's Monthly Narrative Reports, July and October 1953,

Special Use Permit, issued to State of Nebraska, Department of Roads
and Irrigation, February 20, 1956,

Superintendent's Monthly Narrative Report, July 1954.
Letter, William C, Grove to Wirth, September 18, 1954.

Among the organizations sending in resolutions and letters opposing
the project were: ;

American Association for State and Local History, the Izaak Walton
League, the Sierra Club, the Nebraska State Historlcal Society,
Wildlife Management Institute, Gering Junior Chamber of Commerce,
National Parks Association, Western Nebraska Couneil for Social
Studies, the Nebraska Council of the American Pioneer Tralls Associ-
ation, the U, 8, Highway 26 Association, the National Trust for
Historie Preservation, and many private citizens.

Organizations supporting this project were: Morrill, Nebraska
Chamber of Commerce; the city of Torrington, Wyoming; the Morpdll
Mail; American Legion Post 139, Minatare, Nebraska; Scottsbluff
Chamber of Commerce; Torrington, Wyoming Chamber of Commerce; Gering
Chamber of Commerce; City of Scottsbluff; the Nebraska Assoclatlon
of County Officials; the lMitchell, Nebraska Chamber of Commerce;
eity of Bridgeport, Nebraska; city of Minatave, Nebraska; and
several private citizens.

Letter, Wirth to lewis E, Bates, Administrative Assistant to Sena~
tor Frank A Barrett, VWyoming, October 1, 1954, Lewis had forwarded
the application to Wirth from Grove with an attached letter.
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Among the various government and state officials who wrote the
Director concerning this proposal were: Wyoming Senator Frank

A, Barrett, Nebraska Congressman A, L., Miller, Governor-elect
Milward Simpson of Wyoming, Wyoming Senator Joseph C, O '
and Congressman Keith Thompson of Wyoming. It should be noted
that of the various officials who voiced an opinion or an in-
terest in this controversy, only cne was from Nebraska, Congress-
man Miller., All the others vere from the neighboring state of
Wyoming, and they were quitevociferous in their appeals. All
were in favor of this proposal.

Memorandum, Acting Superintendent Coyt H. Hackett to Reglonal
Director, January 2, 1955,

Letter, Director Wirth to Senator O'Mahoney, February 8, 1955.

Letter, Assistant Secretary of the Interlor Orme Lewis to Senator
0'Mahoney, April 18, 1955,
Newspaper article, § ald, May 28, 1955.

Letter, Anderson to Potts, March 30, 1956,

Notification of Personnel Action, June 11, 1956,
See I'ile A42, Oregon Trail Musewn Association.

Memorandum, Acting Superintendent, Rocky Mountain National Park,
George W, Miller to Custodian Mattes, June 4, 1943.

Consignment account, Superintendent of Documents to Custodian
Bht“.g A]n‘i.l 22, 19‘20

Superdntendent's Monthly Narrative Report, July 1957.
Superintendent's Monthly Narrative Report, January 1958,
Superintendent's Monthly Narrative Report, February 1958.
Completion Heports of construction projects, in Monument files.
Superintendent's Monthly Narrative Report, April 1958,
Superintendent's Monthly Narrative Report, October 1958,

Records do not show exactly when this line was installed through
Monument lands., A memorandum dated February 11, 1954 from the
Regional Director to the Bureau of Reclamation Regional Director

in Denver, Colorado quotes E, V, Lindseth, Assistant Director of
the Bureau, as saying that it was first constructed in 1928,

Letter, K. G, Hise to Acting Superintendent Harrie, April 10, 1959.
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174,

175
176,
177,
178.
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Letter, Executive Secretary Harris to Superintendent Henneberger,
June 4, 1959, :

Executive Order 4008 by Calvin Coolidge, May 9, 1924.
Proclamation 1999 by Herbert Hoover, June 1, 1932,
Proclamation 2391 by Franklin D, Rocsevelt, March 29, 1940,

Summary Sheet of Land Acquired, Scottes Bluff National Monument,
File L“"s’ Sheet No. 10





